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NO UNDERTAKINGS ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING

Tuesday, July 19, 2005

     ‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 10:00 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  The Board is sitting this morning pursuant to a procedural order issued on July 5th.  That procedural order arose out of three separate applications.


The first was an application to this Board pursuant to Section 86 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, filed on February 23rd, by Greater Sudbury Hydro, seeking leave from this Board to acquire all of the outstanding shares of West Nipissing Energy Services Ltd.


The second application, which was filed on March 24th, was filed by PowerStream Inc. pursuant to the same section of the Act, seeking leave to acquire all of the outstanding shares of Aurora Hydro Connections Limited.


The third application was filed on the same date, March 24th, by Veridian Connections Inc.  That application sought leave under the same section of the Act to acquire all of the outstanding shares of Gravenhurst Hydro Electric Inc.


The Board has decided, as set out in the procedural order of July 5th, to combine these three proceedings for the purpose of this particular hearing only.  As indicated, all of these three applications are pursuant to Section 86 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  That section, of course, provides that no transmitter or distributor can sell its transmission or distribution system without seeking leave and an order granting approval of the Board.


In those three cases certain procedural issues arose, but one that concerned the Board most was an apparent difference between the parties as to what issues were relevant to the Board and what issues the Board would consider in granting approval pursuant to Section 86.


Accordingly, the Board elected, as indicated in the procedural order, to hear submissions from all parties in all three proceedings on that matter and to make a ruling with respect to that issue, following which the three cases will proceed separately.


As the procedural order required parties who wished to make oral submissions to date to file an outline of written submissions, and such submissions have been received from 11 different parties, I'm going to ask Staff at this point, before I ask for appearances, to distribute a list indicating those submissions and indicating those parties.  


This list, by the way, will be the order in which we will proceed to hear argument.  If that document could be distributed.  It has been distributed?  


MR. BAUMHARD:   Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  I realize some of you are here for the first time.  Some of you have been here forever, but for those that are new, I'm going to ask for the appearances, and by that I mean just when your turn comes, simply stand up and indicate your name and who you represent.  And I will proceed on my right and we will move across the football field.

     APPEARANCES:

MR. LEONARD LAFLÈCHE:  Mr. Chairman, members of the Panel, my name is Leonard Laflèche and I represent Save Our Hydro, from West Nipissing, and I am accompanied by my brother, Brian.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Laflèche.


MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  My name is Brian Laflèche, and I'm with Save Our Hydro Group and, again, accompanied by my brother, Leonard.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. ASHFORTH:  My name is Ross Ashforth.  I'm a citizen of Gravenhurst.  I'm an intervenor and here for that purpose, to make an oral presentation, as well as my written earlier.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Ashforth.


MR. RUBY:  Peter Ruby, counsel for Greater Sudbury Hydro, and I am here with Doug Reeves from the hydro utility.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Ruby.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, my name is Robert Warren, and I represent an organization called the Committee of Gravenhurst Ratepayers.  You will note on your list, number 9, Mr. Black filed a submission with you with the intention of making oral submissions.  He has instructed me this morning that I am to represent his interest in this case, and so while he is present, he will not be making any oral submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Who is next?


MR. TUNLEY:  My name is Phil Tunley.  I'm with McCarthy’s.  I represent Newmarket Hydro Ltd., and with me is Mr. Paul Ferguson of Newmarket Hydro.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Tunley.


MS. LONG:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.  My name is Christine Long and I, along with my colleague, Chris Brett, represent the applicant Aurora Hydro Connections Limited and PowerStream Inc. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Ms. Long.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  James Sidlofsky, for the record, S-I-D-L-O-F-S-K-Y, with Borden Ladner Gervais, here this morning for the Association of Municipalities of Ontario.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Mark Rodger, appearing as counsel to Gravenhurst Hydro Electric Inc. and the Town of Gravenhurst.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.


MS. NEWLAND:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Board Members.  I'm Helen Newland and I represent Veridian Connection Inc., one of the applicants.  


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Newland.  


MS. ALDRED:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Mary Anne Aldred from Hydro One Networks.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. SUTHERLAND:  Mr. Chair, Peter Sutherland, and I'm a citizen of Gravenhurst.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Sutherland.  Anyone else?


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me is Ms. Martine Band, who is also counsel for Board Staff, and Mr. Tobi Baumhard, who is a member of Board Staff.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

Before we hear argument from the parties, there are a couple of procedural matters that we would like to deal with.  The first concerns the intervention of the Association of Municipalities of Ontario.


Mr. Sidlofsky filed an application for intervenor status with the Board on July 12th.  Responses were received by Mr. Warren on behalf of Gravenhurst Hydro Citizens Committee, as well as Mr. Sutherland on July 13th.  The Board, in an earlier decision of July 14th, confirmed the Association of Municipalities of Ontario or AMO's status as an intervenor.


We had, in fact, at the time we made that decision, not received Mr. Sutherland's letter, although I believe it was dated a day earlier.


In any event, we have received it and we have considered it, and the Board has determined that its decision will stand and AMO is granted intervenor status, as previously stated, on July 14th.


The next matter relates to a letter received on July 15th from Mr. Janigan, counsel for the Public Interest Advocacy Centre.  One of the requests that Mr. Janigan made was that, in light of the AMO intervenor status, he wished an opportunity to make submissions as a non‑party, and so the Board was asked to rule on that, and we are prepared to hear any further submissions today on that issue.


I don't know whether anyone wishes to comment on it or not, but if you do, this is your opportunity.  Yes, sir.


MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  Brian Laflèche from the Save Our Hydro.  We certainly don't have any objection, seeing that AMO has been given status.  I think that our group would be in favour.  We just received that late, also, and talked to some of our members and we certainly don't have a problem with that and we hope that the Board would consider that.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Neither Gravenhurst Hydro nor the Town has a specific objection to this group being granted status.  We are concerned, however, that what would be the expectation of the value or weight this written submission would hold being filed presumably some point in the future.  


When AMO was granted intervenor status ‑ and, again, neither the Town nor the Hydro objected to that - but AMO took the record as they found it, and there was no delay which resulted from that intervention.


Our concern would be that a submission would be made after this proceeding is over and that we wouldn't have an opportunity to respond.  So that would be the one caution that we would put forward is:  How are parties in a position to respond to something that's filed after the fact, when this particular proceeding is at an end?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Any other comments?  Ms. Newland?


MS. NEWLAND:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  On behalf of Veridian, we also do not object in principle to the VECC late intervention, but we do share the concerns expressed by Mr. Rodgers regarding a response. 

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  

     Further comments?

     MS. LONG:  Yes, Mr. Chair -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Ms. Long?

     MS. LONG:  We concur with both those submissions.   We are extremely concerned about submissions coming in at a later date and forcing the Board to take a longer time to make a decision on this matter and, therefore, holding up the subsequent evaluations of the three transactions that are before the Board.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, I just indicate on behalf of my client my support for Mr. Janigan's request.  

     As I hear it, there are two concerns.  One is with respect to delay.  Delay can easily be dealt with by putting a tight time-line on the filing of the submissions.  And with respect to response, we're all in the same position.   We're all here delivering what we -- I hope, a slightly but only slightly expanded version of what we filed in writing.  We can only respond, therefore, to what everybody else has written, and so nobody is, in my respectful submission, materially prejudiced by what Mr. Janigan may do.  

     Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     MR. RUBY:  Mr. Chair, on behalf of Greater Sudbury, we share the same concern as the other applicants, that is, no objection in principle, but since we don't know what the written submission is going to say, and it's going to be after this hearing, there should at the very least be some procedural remedy available if things don't turn out as Mr. Warren has suggested they might.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Sidlofsky? 

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Chair, I'm a little concerned about Mr. Janigan's letter, not because I have difficulty with VECC being granted intervenor status.  Of course, AMO made the request for intervenor status and it was granted. 

     My concern, though, is with Mr. Janigan's comments to the effect that AMO has somehow broadened the scope of this proceeding.  And I was going to make these comments in my submissions a little bit later, but -- I don't know what Mr. Janigan may or may not have had provided to him, in terms of the various summaries that were delivered to the Board, but I would just say that AMO is not broadening the scope of this proceeding.  AMO is addressing the issues that were raised by the Board in its procedural order in this combined proceeding. 

     The suggestion that Mr. Janigan needs to be involved in this proceeding, or his organization needs to be involved in -- his client, excuse me, needs to be involved in this proceeding because of something AMO has done, is simply not quite in sync with the Board's process in this proceeding.  

     My concern, although I am not here on behalf of an applicant, is that there will be, or there may be, comments made in the VECC submission, when it’s ultimately filed, that have an impact on the AMO submissions that you will hear today, or that were summarized for you last week.  If the Board is going to provide an opportunity for reply to the applicants, I would ask that the Board provide AMO with an opportunity to reply, as well.  AMO is here at the same time as the applicants.  We'll also be seeing Mr. Janigan's submission for the first time after the fact.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     Any other comments?  

     [The Board confers] 

     MR. KAISER:  Having heard the submissions of counsel with respect to the application of VECC, particularly with respect to Mr. Janigan's request that later written submissions be received from non-parties, including VECC, the Board is of the opinion that, first of all, as indicated by counsel for AMO, we don't believe that the AMO late intervention necessarily changes the scope of today's hearing. 

     Our intention is to keep the scope as set out in the procedural order.  More importantly, the time-line is established in that procedural order for any party to make submissions.  If Mr. Janigan or anyone else wanted to make submissions, they should be here today, and follow the same rules as everyone else.   Accordingly, the Board will not receive any submissions beyond those that we hear today. 

     The other procedural order - the third matter - the Board did receive a request from Mr. Ashforth that his submission of June 29th be considered his response to the procedural order of July 5th.  However, I am now advised Mr. Ashforth will be making oral submissions.  Is that correct? 

     MR. MILLAR:  That's correct, yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  So that matter, I presume, is dispensed with.

     In that case, we will return to our roadmap.  We intend to hear argument in the order set out, and then all parties will have an opportunity to reply, in the same order. 

     So, Mr. Ruby, we will start with you. 

     MR. RUBY:  Mr. Chair, if I may just ask the Panel's indulgence.  The applicants, with the Panel's permission, have worked out an alternative order to our submissions, in the hope that we proceed in a logical order and replicate each other’s submissions as little as possible.  So, if that's all right, what I would ask is that Ms. Long start.  And I will follow, and then Mr. Rodger and Ms. Newland. 

     MR. KAISER:  You had to change them all, didn't you? 

     MR. RUBY:  Yes, well, at least it was just the applicants, sir.  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  

     Please proceed.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Chair and Panel Members. 

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BREDT:

     MS. LONG:   Actually my colleague, Chris Bredt, is going to start off, and then I will continue the argument. 

     MR. BREDT:  Mr. Chair, and Members of the Panel, I trust you have before you the submissions that we provided to the Board of July 13th.  I will be using those as the framework for my submissions here this morning. 

     In the procedural order, you asked that the parties make submissions on the scope of review under Section 86 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  And, in particular, you asked for submissions with respect to the relevance of the adequacy of the purchase price and, secondly, with respect to process issues, and by that I mean the adequacy or integrity of the motivation underlying the tendering, public consultation, public disclosure or decision-making processes associated with the proposed transaction.  

     The position of Aurora and PowerStream is that, except to the extent that the transaction affects the financial viability of the purchaser, neither the adequacy of the purchase price nor the adequacy of the process fall within the scope of Section 86.  And I’ll be developing that argument for you this morning.  

     We've organized our submissions under the following headings:  First of all, general principles of administrative law; secondly, the statutory framework; thirdly, previous decisions of this Board; fourthly, policy reasons in favour of a limited scope of review; fifthly, any new policy should be applied prospectively with respect to the Aurora/PowerStream application.  

     I'll be making the submissions with respect to those issues, and my colleague, Christine Long, will be making submissions with respect to the remaining issues, which are the purchase price in the proposed transaction, the process of the proposed transaction and a concluding summary.  

     Let me turn, then, to the first issue that I'm dealing with, which is the general principles of administrative law.  And it's just simply that any exercise of discretion -- a basic principle of administrative law is that it is constrained by the purposes and the objectives of the empowering legislation.  And I've, in the materials before you, provided you with just several references in support of that principle.  

     Let me turn quickly, then, to the statutory framework.   Section 86(2) of the Act prohibits any person from acquiring the shares of a distributor without first obtaining leave of this Board.  And it's clear, in our submission, that the exercise of discretion by this Board is constrained by the objectives that are set out in Section 1 of the Act.


I have set those out at page 4 of our submission, and we'll simply take you through the two objectives that I think this Board should have regard to in determining its scope of review.


First is to protect the interest of consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability and quality of electrical service; and, secondly, to promote economic efficiency and cost effectiveness in the generation, transmission, distribution, sale and demand management of electricity and to facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry.  So those are the two objectives that, we submit, confine and constrain the discretion of this Board.


I turn now to the next portion of our submission, which is the previous decisions of this Board.  And in the previous decisions ‑ and there's two that I will take you to ‑ this Board has adopted a limited role in review of these types of transactions under Section 86.


On page 5 of the submission, you will see I've quoted a passage from the decision in Hydro One Networks, which was the acquisition of the shares of Caledon Hydro Corporation.  And in that decision the Board stated that:

"As elected representatives, the Town of Caledon council is responsible for acting in the best interest of the community.  The Board's role is not to second‑guess the commercial decisions reached by the municipality, but is to consider whether the specific proposed transaction is in the public interest, having regard to the objectives set out in Section 1 of the Act."


And that decision is similar to an earlier decision of the Board in the Town of Deep River, and I've set out a passage on page 6 and I will only read you the second portion of that passage.  The Board said:

"It is the Board's view that this Board's role in reviewing an application for a MAAD transaction is to ensure that the overall transaction is in the public interest with regard to facilitating an efficient and viable electricity industry in Ontario for the benefit of businesses and consumers.  The specific terms of the agreement, of purchase and sale, are the result of an arm's- length negotiation between the parties, and it is incumbent on those parties to ensure that they are protected and that any representations they are relying upon are legally enforceable.”


What I say emerges from these decisions are a number of general principles.  The first point is that the Board has correctly recognized that its discretion is to be shaped and guided by the objectives set out in Section 1, but it has also articulated some principles and has applied those principles in the hearings it has conducted under Section 86.


The first is that the Board is to ensure that the overall transaction is in the public interest with regard to facilitating an efficient and viable electricity industry.


Second, it recognizes the role of the municipality to act in the best interest of the community, the Board's role is not to second‑guess commercial decisions of the municipality.  And the Board recognizes that the specific terms of an agreement of purchase and sale are the result of arm's-length negotiations between parties, and it's incumbent upon those parties to ensure that their interests are protected.  We say that these decisions recognize, appropriately, a limited scope of review.


Let me turn to the policy reasons why we say that a limited scope of review under Section 86 is appropriate.  We say there are three policy reasons that support that approach.  The first is the comparative expertise, secondly is commercial uncertainty, and third is alternative regulatory processes.


Turning first to comparative expertise, this Board clearly has considerable expertise with respect to facilitating an efficient and viable electricity industry and considers regularly matters such as fixing rates, licensing market participants, approving new construction and ensuring regulatory compliance.


Municipalities, on the other hand, are elected representatives of their community and they're in the best position to act in the best interests of their electorate based upon the circumstances as they see them.  Further, as the owner of the utility and the entity that negotiates the business transaction, the municipality is in a better position to determine the various different terms and conditions of what are inevitably complex commercial agreements, and to determine whether those terms and conditions are in the municipality's best interest.


I note that some of the other parties before you have developed this argument in more detail - that is, the scope and jurisdiction of a municipality - and I will leave it to them to elaborate on that argument.  


But I leave this point by urging the Board to consider that, in the review of these transactions, there are certain areas where the Board has a great deal of expertise and there are other areas where the municipality is better placed to consider the issues.  And to some extent that does speak to a more limited role for the Board, particularly with respect to the issues of adequacy of purchase price and adequacy of process.


Let me turn to our second policy, and that's what I call commercial uncertainty.  And here, I say that if the Board is entitled to second‑guess the adequacy of the purchase price, it seems to me what that brings with it is the ability to review each and every commercial term of the agreement, because embedded in the purchase price is financing, whether you're using debt or equity, all sorts of other commercial issues that have been negotiated as an element of the commercial agreement.


Our submission is that, to the extent that the Board were to determine that it is appropriate for them to get into these types of detailed commercial issues, including the purchase price, that it would create considerable commercial uncertainty for the parties that are out there negotiating these types of transactions and would serve to discourage the type of consolidation that it's clearly the policy to encourage in this area.


Our third policy argument is what I call alternative processes, and what this flows from is what I call the policy or a principle of regulatory efficiency.  The Board should not engage in a detailed review of issues that are regulated under a separate process.  There are some good reasons, from a proper functioning administrative agency perspective, that favour that. 


First of all, it avoids duplication.  If an issue is going to be considered in detail in some later process, it doesn't make sense to consider it twice in approving a transaction under Section 86.  


Secondly, and I think this is particularly important, is that it ensures that issues are considered as part of a process, first of all, where all the appropriate parties are present.  That may not be the case in your Section 86 review.  And, secondly, it ensures that all of the appropriate evidence is before the Board and, again, that may not be the case in a Section 86 review.


And let me just give you, as an example of this, the issue that's being raised by Newmarket in the Aurora proceeding.  That's a global issue of supply alternatives for the York Region, and it's subject to a separate process.  And my colleague, Christine Long, will deal with this issue in more detail.  But I note that, in circumstances where there are other processes involving parties that are not before the Board and evidence that may not be before the Board, it speaks to saying, as a matter of regulatory efficiency, let those alternative processes have their day and not drag that type of issue into a Section 86 hearing.  

     And I note that this principle is -- or, has been recognized by the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board.  And with permission from my colleague, Mr. Tunley, I note that he has provided you with a brief of authorities.  If you have that brief of authorities before you --

     MR. TUNLEY:  Actually, Mr. Chairman, Members of the Board, I have the Board's copies available here.  So, if there is no objection, I will hand those up through Board Staff.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Tunley.  

     MR. TUNLEY:  I also do have a couple of extra copies, if anyone does not at this point have them and wants to follow along.  

     MR. BREDT:  Mr. Tunley has included in his authorities several decisions of the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board.  And if I could ask you to turn to tab 3 of those authorities, there's reference to a decision there involving ANCL and ANCA, and it relates to a sale of shares.  

     And, without getting too much into the factual background, I note only that the Alberta Board has the ability to approve transactions of this sort.  And if I could ask the Board to turn to Page 12 of that decision, and at Page 12 of the decision, the second paragraph under "4.2", there's a heading that’s entitled "Views of the Board".  Does the Panel have that? 

     MR. KAISER:  We have it.  

     MR. BREDT:  I'm sorry, I'm not high enough up to see whether you have been able to find it.  

     I just make the point that the Alberta Board has recognized this principle of alternative processes.  And I just read you the first part of the paragraph, there.  It says:

          “The Board recognizes that all of the issues raised by the intervenors are important to them.  However, the Board considers that the detailed resolution of the majority of these issues can be most appropriately handled in future proceedings with the assistance of more timely and specific evidence.  As the Board has previously held in asset or share disposition applications, customers are not entitled to a level of post-transaction regulatory certainty that they would not have realized if the transaction had not been approved." 

     So, again, on this third policy point, I think what it speaks to is a consideration by the Board of whether the issues are being raised can be dealt with more appropriately in other proceedings.  

     If I could, then, just summarize our argument with respect to where I say that that policy takes you to.  In our submissions, we say it's clear that Section 86 is forward-looking.  By forward-looking, it says:  How does this transaction affect, first of all, consumers, on a go-forward basis, and, secondly, efficiency and cost-effectiveness, on a go-forward basis?

     And what we say flows from that is that the interests of the selling shareholder are not relevant, either as to, first of all, the adequacy of the purchase price - that is, what the selling shareholder realized from the transaction is not relevant to the issues under Section 86 - and, secondly, the adequacy of the process provided by the selling shareholder.  

     And, in our submission, the only possible relevance of the purchase price is its potential effect on the financial viability of the purchaser, the party that will be providing the service in future.  And beyond that, it's simply not relevant.  

     I turn to my last submission, which is that:  Should this Board determine that a new policy is appropriate, Aurora and PowerStream would like to reserve its rights to make further submissions as to whether that new policy should be applied to the application before them, or only on a prospective basis.  

     Subject to any questions, I will turn the floor over to my colleague, Christine Long, who will address the remaining submissions on behalf of Aurora and PowerStream.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Bredt.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Panel.  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MS. LONG:

     MS. LONG:  For the reasons that have been previously outlined by my colleague, the applicants are of the view that the adequacy of the purchase price is outside the scope of the Board's review under Section 86.  

     However, as we have previously stated in correspondence on the record with respect to this application, the Town stands by the purchase price it received for this transaction.  The Town retained the expertise of KPMG for a valuation of the utility, and it was on that basis that they negotiated the share-purchase agreement in this transaction.  

     NHL has, in its submission, confirmed that it has no issue with respect to the purchase price contained in the proposed transaction in Board file application 2005-0254, or the application put before you by PowerStream Inc. and AHCL.  

     With respect to the consideration of process, again, for the reasons my colleague has previously addressed, it's the applicant's view that consideration of process is outside the scope of Section 86.  

     That being said, the facts in this specific application are as follows.  The Town has explained to its ratepayers the process it underwent in an open letter from the Town and Town Council, which forms part of this MAAD application process.  The Town did not enter into a public tendering process for the sale of the shares, and it was not required to do so.  While Section 2.7.1 of the MAAD application asks for information regarding the public consultation process, that, in and of itself, does not allow the Board to have the authority to dictate the process it undertakes in going about this transaction.  

     I think it is important to point out that the Town stands by the process by which it entered into the transaction.  It had, for approximately one year prior to entering into this transaction, considered other options.  One of these, which the record will show, was a merger between NHL and Aurora.  Ultimately, the Town decided to go with the share sale.  The Town had a special meeting, by which it listened to its citizens make submissions on their views with respect to this transaction.  Ultimately, the Town, as shareholder, has the authority to dispose of the Town's assets.
       Newmarket Hydro, in their submission, makes the argument that, in this particular circumstance, the Board should consider process in light of its concerns related to section 6.5 of the share-purchase agreement.  Newmarket Hydro, in its summary of its oral evidence, even asks the Board to look further back than the negotiation of the transaction, back to July 10th, 2003, the time that a York Region supply study was issued.  

     So, in fact, Newmarket is asking the Board not to just look at the process that was underwent for this transaction, but is asking the Board to look back two years in time to consider the steps taken by the seller in this case.  

     With respect to Section 6.5, and I'm not going to harp on this, because we don't believe that this is the appropriate forum to discuss the supply issue.  However, simply put, the facts are this:  Section 6.5 of the share purchase agreement contemplates certain enhancement features, three 28kV feeder lines.  Aurora had been relying on, and is still relying upon, third parties and was worried about short‑term supply.  This is one of the issues that was considered in reaching the share purchase agreement.


PowerStream has an extensive distribution system, it is contiguous with Aurora.  PowerStream is able to help with the short‑term supply problem.  It was never contemplated that long‑term supply issues would be dealt with by these three feeders, but, rather, as the Board knows, there is a process going on through the Ontario Power Authority which is considering long‑term supply in York region.  


As the Board is well aware, but I think it bears repeating, the mandate of the OPA with respect to York region is:  To reassess the need for electricity in the region, to develop and analyze options, to conduct public consultation with all stakeholders in the process, and to submit recommendations to the Ontario Energy Board.


The OPA is looking at a long-term solution for 130 megawatts for York region over the next 10 years.  The three feeders have always been viewed as a short-term solution to be supplemented by more efficient and reliable long‑term solutions that will be covered by the OPA planning process.


This, again, goes to what my colleague had mentioned.  The OPA process allows broader consultation and the expertise of people who can deal with this very complicated issue that faces York region.  In a letter dated May 26th, which has been filed with the Board, Brian Bentz, President and CEO of PowerStream, confirmed that the three feeder lines were not a quick fix to supply Aurora's growth at the expense of long‑term filing.


The letter also confirmed that PowerStream met with NHL and confirmed their commitment to reach a decision with respect to long‑term supply.  The letter also confirmed that PowerStream is willing to work with the OPA and other stakeholders in York region to reach a long‑term supply solution.  


Regional supply in York region is a complex issue.  It involves multiple shareholders and multiple possible solutions.  It is best considered through the OPA process, for the reasons that we have outlined.  The MAAD process should not turn into a parallel York region supply study.


For the reasons that my colleague and I have set out before you this morning, it is the applicant's submission that the issues raised by the intervenors in the Aurora/PowerStream application are outside the scope of the Board's review under Section 86.  The applicants are, therefore, of the view that the Board should continue with its historical review that it has used and should move forward on that basis to review the application before you.


Those are our submissions, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     Who is next, Mr. Ruby?

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RUBY:

MR. RUBY:  I believe I am, Mr. Chair.  For the purpose of my submissions, it may be useful to have handy Greater Sudbury's written submissions, some excerpts of the Electricity Act and OEB Act.  If I can hand up -- I have produced those merely for convenience.
Greater Sudbury's submissions, I think, are labelled A‑1, and the third document you may wish to have handy are the intervenors' submissions in this particular proceeding with respect to Greater Sudbury, and I understand those have been labelled B-5.  This is the Save Our Hydro one‑page submission.


So if you have those three documents, the Panel has asked for submissions concerning the scope of a Section 86 exercise and, with the Panel's permission, I would jump directly to that question.


It's my submission that it's uncontroversial that there are some factors that have been put forward in this proceeding that are relevant and some that may not be, and that the question before this Panel is where to draw the line.  That is, nobody is saying there isn't a line to be drawn, that the Board's jurisdiction extends forever.  The question is where to place the line and where the submissions that have been put forward by the intervenors fall with respect to that line.


And I have two submissions in that regard.  The first concerns the approach that, I submit, should be taken by the Board in engaging in a Section 86 leave exercise, and, second, I will turn to dealing with some of the factors that have been raised in this proceeding that would be irrelevant, in my submission, if one were to apply the appropriate approach.


It's my submission that it could be a complicated question, in some instances, as to whether a particular issue falls on one side of the line or the other.  With respect to Greater Sudbury, it's my submission none of the issues raised by the intervenors are, in fact, difficult questions in assessing whether they fall on one side of the line.  They aren't in the gray area, in other words.  But those will be the two points that I wish to make.


The first, then, is to deal with the approach, I submit, the Board should take.  We start, if we may, with the principle that it is really trite law that the Board only has the jurisdiction conferred on it by statute.  The case law in support of that proposition has been sprinkled through the various applicants' written submissions.  I won't take you to it.  As I say, it's trite law.


The provision at issue is Section 86.  And, in my submission, the proper approach for the Board to take ‑ and this is my key submission ‑ is that the exercise that the Board is engaged in in this proceeding is one of statutory interpretation; nothing more and nothing less.  That is, it's a legal issue and it should be treated that way by the Board.


Now, the Supreme Court of Canada has repeatedly instructed lower courts and tribunals on how to engage in statutory interpretation, and, in fact, Mr. Warren, I believe, who is sitting next to me, has quoted from a different Supreme Court of Canada decision, but quoted the same test out of the Driedger textbook, and it may be simple if I can point you to my written submissions where I've quoted the key bit at paragraph 5, page 2.  I've taken it from the Bell ExpressVu case.  I believe Mr. Warren has taken it out of the Rizzo case, also in the Supreme Court.


The approach to statutory interpretation that is set out there is that today there is only one principle or approach, namely:

"The words of an actor to be read in their entire context and in their grammatical and ordinary sense..."


And I will come back to that:

"... harmoniously with the scheme of the Act, the object of the act..."


Which I will come back to:

"... and the intention of parliament."


Which, again, I will come back to.


So that is how the Board, in my submission, should interpret what it is to do under Section 86.  So the role of the Board in this particular context is to look for the legislative intention behind Section 86.


Now, Section 86 itself is not terribly helpful in that regard.  It gives the Board the power to grant leave and, in fact, requires leave to be granted before, in the case we're dealing with, with Greater Sudbury, one distributor is sold to another.


But the legislative intent can be derived from other sources within the statute and related statutes.  And the first place I would point you, if I may, is Section 1, which has already been referred to and I believe comes up in nearly everyone's written submissions.


If I can ask you to turn to the excerpts of the statute I've handed up, that may be a convenient place to find Section 1.  You will forgive me if I read it a bit, trying to emphasize certain portions, but what's been reproduced in some the submission leaves out something important, which is the lead into Section 1 of the OEB Act, which is:

          “The Board in carrying out its responsibilities --"

     And I stop there and note that granting leave under Section 86 is clearly one of the Board's responsibilities under this Act.  And it says:

          “ --  shall be guided by the following objectives:" 

     Again, “objectives”, using the same word as the Supreme Court uses in what is supposed to guide a statutory interpretation exercise.  And here the Board says:

          "To protect the interests of consumers --"

     And I’d stop there for the moment and note that, if you look down the page that's in front of you, the definition of a “consumer”, which is found in part 5 of the Act, which is the same part that Section 86 is found in, relates to "person’s own consumption of electricity".  That is, “consumers”, within the meaning of Section 1 and Section 86, are not consumers of anything, it's electricity consumers.  The focus is on electricity.  

     With respect to prices, and again, prices and the adequacy, reliability and quality, it's not of anything, it's of electricity service.  So it's not the prices of shares, for example, or the price of distribution assets, it's the price of electricity service that the legislature instruct is to concern the Board.

     Turning to the second objective, it’s to promote economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness.  Again, it's not generally, it's in the generation and transmission, distribution - which is particularly apropos in this hearing - sale and demand side of electricity, and to facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry.  

     So, again, over and over, the legislature emphasizes that what the Board is to be looking at is electricity issues.  

     And I would also draw to the attention of the Board that both of these objectives deal with economic matters.  This is a provision that was amended in 2004, and greatly shortened.  And it's clear that the legislature now wishes the Board to deal with electricity economic matters, and not, for example, political questions, which, in my submission, is what the intervenors in the Sudbury application have raised.  

     If I may, then, note that there also is nothing about transparency and process in those two objectives, for example, in the sale of a distributor.  Of course, corporations -- and I should say, that is not surprising.  Corporations are, of course, governed by the Ontario Business Corporations Act, and I’ll turn to the sections of the Electricity Act that, in fact, deal with this.  Municipalities are governed by the Municipal Act.  Electricity distribution, of course, is governed by the Board under the Electricity Act and the Ontario Energy Board Act.  So there is nothing surprising in finding that the focus of the legislature in the electricity area is on electricity.  

     If I may also note that in the Supreme Court of Canada's approach to statutory interpretation, it not only says, Look to the object of the Act, but it also says, Look to context.  

     And, in that regard, I would ask if you can turn back to the hand-out of statutory excerpts.  The third page in, I've got some excerpts there from the Electricity Act, which, of course, is the companion legislation to the OEB Act.  And, without touching on all of them, if I may, I would very quickly run through a few of these provisions. 

     The first is to note that in Section 142(1), the legislature set up a system where, effectively, electricity distributors have been transferred into Ontario Business Corporation Act corporations.  In my submission, that was a deliberate choice.  It changed what had gone before, that is, from hydro commissions and other public utility commissions, we moved to business corporations. 

     And there are certain things that come with business corporations, such as ownership, which is referred to in Section 142(4).  That is, municipalities own shares.  And, of course, as noted in subsection (5) of the same section:

          “A municipal corporation may acquire, hold, dispose of or otherwise deal with shares of a corporation incorporated under the section,” and so on.  

     So in my submission, it is clear that the Legislature intended municipalities to have the same ambit to deal with their shares as is for regular business corporations.  And again, that is a useful indicator of legislative intention.  

     To run through, very quickly, some of the other sections, 145(1) shows just how large the scope of this exercise is meant to be, that the municipality could make bylaws - again, a political process - dealing with employees, assets, liabilities, rights and obligations.  Again, it's very general language. 

     On to the next page, subsection (4) - and I'm trying not to hit all of them, in the interests of time - notes - and this is important - that the binding nature of the transfer bylaw, which is, of course, what formed -- or was important in forming all of these distributors in the province - except, I suppose, Hydro One - applies - and this is subsection (4):

          “Applies despite any general or special act or any rule of law, including an act or rule of law that requires notice or registration of transfers.”

     And I don't say that that applies directly to the circumstance, but for the purpose of interpretation, it is an indication that the legislature intended that municipalities have a wide latitude to deal with the business corporations that would distribute electricity in their territories.  

     Flipping, if I may, to the next page, under the heading “Payment for Transfer”, Section 149.  I note that subsection (2) deals, again, with the broad issue of price, that a municipality could fix the price.  That was not a subject that the legislature, even on the initial creation of the distributor, required leave of the Board.  The transfer bylaw could fix the price in three different manners.  And I won't go through them, they're all set out there.  And, again, in subsection (3), even allows the municipality to set the form of payment without interference.  

     Subsection (5) deals with valuations and allowed the municipality to be the one to decide what value to assess, and, again, sets out three different methods.  

      And the only other section I would take you to is on the very last page of the handout, Section 161.  It notes that this part - and this is the part dealing with the creation of distributors from municipal public utilities:  

“That this part applies despite the provision of the Municipal Act, relating to the production, manufacture, distribution or supply of a public utility by a municipality or a municipal service board, and despite any other general or specified act.”  

     That is, again, an indication of just how broad the initial creation of these distributors was meant to be, and that it was to go even beyond the Municipal Act, though I would note that the same section does not apply to subsequent sales.  
     So, for example, the transactions that are in issue with great respect to Greater Sudbury are subject to the Municipal Act.  And all of the restrictions - and it's a rather long statute, as the Board is no doubt familiar with - all of those restrictions are found in the Municipal Act and continue to apply to this transaction.  

     Now, with the Board's permission, I’d turn to my second submission, which is really trying to use by way of an example an indication of how that approach can be applied with respect to interventions or submissions that are made with respect to a particular transaction.  

     And if I may, what I would like to use is the Save Our Hydro submissions, just by way of example.  The submissions themselves, in this particular -- for this hearing, were only a page long.  I don't mean to suggest that this excludes anything else the Save our Hydro Group could come up with.  But I do point to it as, these are the issues that they have raised, and I’d like to take you through it, as an example.  

     So, if you have that in front of you, I would suggest that if you read through this entire B.5 Exhibit, which is the July 7th letter, signed by Brian and Len Laflèche.  And if you read through all of the other submissions that the same people have made in the Greater Sudbury proceeding, you would find that their intervention really boils down to two sets of objections.  One concerns the process of sale; that is, procedure at the municipality.  And I note it is not at Greater Sudbury, it is at the selling municipality where the objection arises.  At West Nipissing, it is West Nipissing Hydro's shares that are being sold by the municipality, and the objections relate to process at the municipality.  And the second type of objection that I would suggest, it boils down to concerns over price.  


And as it turns out, those are the very same two concerns raised by the Board in its procedural order.


And if I may just really start at the top of the Laflèche letter, the first issue they raise is transparency, and I would note really here in passing that, first of all, you've got the full outline in the record of what process the municipality followed, how the advertising was done, what notice was given and so on.  And that, in my submission, was complete.  


I won't go into it any further, other than to note that all of these transactions were all done under the gun, as it were.  As the Board is no doubt aware, there was an impending tax transfer holiday deadline on March 28, so no doubt the processes ‑‑ I can only speak for my client, but in the case of Greater Sudbury, the processes, in part, were driven by the fact they had to meet a provincially‑mandated deadline or miss the tax holiday.  That said, as I say, they complied with all requirements and ran a perfectly fine process.  And from the brief review I've had of the record of the other proceedings, it may be that the Greater Sudbury situation is the simplest of all of them in that regard.


But going back to transparency, which of course is a process issue, transparency, in my submission, is a political question.  If the Laflèche brothers are unhappy with how their municipality deals with process in West Nipissing, they really have two recourses.  One is to the courts, if they believe that their rights to procedural fairness or natural justice have been violated or if they need to quash a bylaw; and their second course is at the next election where, if they feel strongly enough and their fellow citizens feel strongly enough, they can kick out the officials that made this decision.


But transparency is not something that falls into the Section 1 objectives of the Board.  It is not an economic efficiency question.  The Board has before it a particular transaction and, in a sense, can vote it up or down.  But as I know some of my friends to follow will point out, the Board has, in the past, repeatedly recognized that the Board leaves to the municipality an area of choice, that it's not going to second‑guess - I think is the words that the Board has used in the past, particularly in the Richmond Hill submission that is in the record - it's not going to second guess the municipality.


So I say transparency process of a municipality, is not something within the Board's jurisdiction and is not something that the legislature intended to be followed.


Going on to the rest of the questions that are raised in this letter, the Save our Hydro Group asks:  Why did the OEB allow Sudbury to advertise when the municipality - and here I take it the municipality is West Nipissing - passed a resolution authorizing the transaction five days later?  


They end with the question:  Was that legal?  And, of course, that is the quintessential municipal law question that is supposed to be resolved either, at first instance, by the municipality and, ultimately, by the courts.  Was it legal under the Municipal Act, is not a matter for the Board.


The next question deals with officially notifying the distributor, the West Nipissing distributors' board.  That, of course, is a question of governance of a corporation.  It is not a matter that is addressed in Section 1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.


The next question they raise deals with public input, again, process, and notes that six of nine councillors are not from the area in question.  And, again, that is quintessentially a political question:  What is the representation, what is the legitimacy of a vote if people don't live in the area that is being served, and not something for the Board.  Again, you won't find that, if you turn back to Section 1 of the OEB Act.


Moving on, why was this council not allowed to discuss the sale publicly?  Of course, open council meetings are a matter that are addressed specifically under the Municipal Act.  I won't take you to it, but Section 239 of the Municipal Act deals with the question of open meetings of the council.  It's not a matter regulated by this Board.


The second-to-last question and the last question go together, I submit.  This is the -- what's submitted to be the low price and the Navigant Consulting submission, which of course reviewed the pending transaction and offered an opinion about its fairness.  


And I would make this point about the price.  I agree with what's been said by my colleagues behind me about price.  Interestingly enough ‑ and at least to me it wasn't intuitive - in the context of a leave application to the Board, the price only matters if it is too high, not if it's too low.  And when I say "too high", I don't mean to say too high relative to the fair market value of the asset being transferred.  


In my submission, it doesn't matter what the fair market value is for the purposes of this Board.  All that matters is that the price isn't too high that it burdens the acquiring distributor with an asset that it cannot properly pay for, so that the two entities are no longer financially viable and cannot meet the standards of service imposed on them by the Board.


So all that matters is perhaps the relative size of the transaction vis‑a‑vis the financial abilities of the acquiring distributor and not compared to fair market value.  And by way of example, if I may, I would point to a hypothetical example that goes in the other direction.


My friends from Save Our Hydro have pointed out, they say, that Hydro One Networks would have paid, perhaps, $4 million for the west Nipissing distributor; Greater Sudbury only paid two.


Now, of course, that means that there are $2 million less in the municipality's pocket.  But, in fact, what it means, since the acquirer is a distributor, is that if Hydro One would have bought for $4 four million, there would be $2 million excess - that is, the difference between 4 and $2 million, $2 million excess - taken out of the distribution system that otherwise would not have to be and put in the hands of the municipality.


So, in fact, requiring the highest price actually removes funds from the electricity system.  A municipality that accepts what it believes is a fair price, that may be lower than some notional other price, actually is to the benefit of the electricity system as a whole.  And that may be to the detriment of the municipality, but that is the municipality's choice and it may be for a whole lot of reasons that they choose that particular outcome.


I'm not saying that is the case there in Greater Sudbury.  I'm only using it by way of example.  


So the price only matters if it is up, not down.  And as I understand it, none of the intervenors in this proceeding are complaining to the Board that the price was too low ‑‑ excuse me, was too high.  Pardon me.


 So, in summary, it's my submission that the Board should keep to its mandate.  This hearing addresses an important issue, but, in my submission, a straightforward approach is the best approach:  That is, follow the rules of statutory interpretation, the Supreme Court has set out how to do it; measure the submissions advanced to you in each of the contexts of the three proceedings against the statute and the intentions of the legislature when it asks the Board to grant leave or not.  


I submit in the case of Greater Sudbury, that will be a relatively straightforward exercise, but I don't mean to suggest that in other proceedings it may be a little more complicated to figure out where particular submissions fall on either side of the proper line.


And I would make just one last point, which ‑‑ and I've said this before, which is the intervenors from West Nipissing, in particular, their recourse doesn't end at this Board.  They have an election.  They have the courts, if it’s appropriate, and if they feel that they've been individually harmed, of course, they have all of their regular civil remedies that would possibly flow.  

     In this particular hearing, I haven't heard anything advanced that occurs to me may give rise to a civil cause of action, but, of course, in another circumstance, if they’ve suffered particular damage, that may be the case.  

     Unless there are any questions, those are my submissions.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ruby, did I hear you say that Section 86 had been amended in 2004? 

     MR. RUBY:  Section 1 had been amended.  

     MR. KAISER:   And you said it had been considerably narrowed? 

     MR. RUBY:  Well, there had -- there used to be many more objectives listed in both the Ontario Energy Board Act and the Electricity Act, and now we're down to two.  

     MR. KAISER:  And what's your point with respect to that?  That we should take some guidance from that, and in what respect? 

     MR. RUBY:  Well I, unfortunately, don't have the old sections in front of me.  But you may recall --  somebody’s got a black-lined copy here.  And we can supply this to the Board afterwards, though I'm sure that there’s a copy floating around somewhere.  

     But there were other objectives that had been included that were much broader than just dealing with economic pricing issues that currently exist.   Things like facilitating a smooth transition to competition, non-discriminatory access being a broader issue, energy conservation, energy efficiency, and so on, has been removed, and promoting communication between the electricity industry and education of consumers - again, which might have been something relevant with respect to the submissions that have been advanced to you in this proceeding - that's been removed from the objectives of this Board.  It's no longer there.  

     So my submission is that, if there was ever a role for the Board to inquire into the types of things advanced by the intervenors in this proceeding, that role is no longer there.  The legislature has given you guidance that those things are not objectives of the Board any more.  

     MR. KAISER:  Well, that's my -- what is the specific narrowing in the amendment that you're relying on?  I mean, none of the things that you've mentioned to me seem to have much relevance to this case.  

     MR. RUBY:  Well, for example -- I'm not suggesting that they do in particular, but for example, the argument could be made, and it hasn't been, in this proceeding, that the last objective that used to be under the OEB Act, promoting communication within the electricity industry and the education of consumers, there may have been an argument at the time that notice, communication issues, with respect to the sale of the distributor might have been something the Board was to look at, but that's been removed.  And I hope that answers your question.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Ruby, I don't have the specific applications of the three systems in front of me, but I'm just looking at the style of cause from the procedural order.  You are the -- Greater Sudbury is the applicant.  Greater Sudbury Hydro is the applicant.  So is that under Section 86(2)? 

     MR. RUBY:  Yes. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Do you know if that is different for the other two? 

     MR. RUBY:  I am not sure, but I believe at least one of them is a Section 86(2) and the other may be an amalgamation.  If you will give me a moment I can ask my colleagues if there is a difference.  

     My apologies.  It seems everybody’s a Section 86(2) application. 

     MR. KAISER:  They're all amalgamations. 

     MR. RUBY:  Well, in the case of Greater Sudbury it's not an amalgamation.  It's just a share purchase.  

     MR. VLAHOS:   Yes, well, that's why I need some clarification:  86(2), that means that the purchaser makes the application.  

     MR. RUBY:  Yes.  And in, at least, my circumstance, Greater Sudbury is the purchaser.  Greater Sudbury Hydro is purchasing shares from the Municipality of West Nipissing. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So what’s the status of the selling party under Section 86(2)? 

     MR. RUBY:  In my submission, none.  It does not require leave from the Board to sell shares of a distributor, only the acquiring party requires that authorization.  That said, and I know I troubled over this a little bit when I first became involved, if it’s an asset purchase transaction, it's the other way around, that is, the seller has to get leave from the Board to sell its assets.  But for whatever reason, the legislature’s chosen that, if it’s a share purchase, it's the acquirer that needs leave from the Board.  And that's under Section 86(1). 

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So your understanding is - and I guess it will be corrected, if it's not so by the others - that in all three cases we're talking about applications under Section 86(2)? 

     MR. RUBY:  That's what I've been advised. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you, sir.  

     MR. RUBY:  Thank you.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Ruby.  

     Mr. Rodger, were you next?  

     MR. RODGER:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

     SUBMISSIONS OF MR. RODGER: 

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, you should have our earlier submissions, filed on July 13th, and also a brief of authorities that was also pre-filed.   The only other additional one page that I will refer to is something I handed out earlier this morning, and you should have copies of.  It's a one-page table from the Ontario Energy Board with the heading "What is Economic Regulation?"
     MR. KAISER:  Do we have that?

     MR. RODGER:  If I could ask for this one-page to be marked, Mr. Chairman. 

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  

      What number is that, Mr. Millar? 

     MR. MILLAR:  D1.1, Mr. Chair.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     EXHIBIT NO. D1.1:  COPY OF ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD TABLE HEADED “WHAT IS ECONOMIC REGULATION?”        

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Chairman, Gravenhurst Hydro and the Town of Gravenhurst will be relying on the submissions filed on July 13.  My friends that have preceded me have done a very thorough review of the legal framework on how the Board should dispose of this matter.  We adopt those submissions; don't intend to repeat them. 

     I would like to focus on various policy considerations that will also guide the Board in resolving this matter.  I would first like to start with the statement of the recommendations that we have for you.  

     Firstly, is that the OEB find that its scope and jurisdiction in applying Section 86 is delineated and confined to the objectives that are set out in subsection 1(1) of the OEB Act.  

     Secondly, that what the intervenors are, in essence, recommending is that this Board go well beyond considering the applications before you and, in effect, use Section 86 and the Section 1 objectives as the basis to regulate municipalities as the shareholders of distribution companies.   For the reasons I will speak to, it is our view that the Board has no jurisdiction to entertain the kind of relief the intervenors seek 

     Thirdly, that the Board determine that a written proceeding is the appropriate approach for the Gravenhurst transaction, given that there are no relevant issues raised by the intervenors that cannot be fully addressed by way of a written hearing.   

     And finally, that this written hearing process commence as soon as possible, given the approximately four months that have transpired from the time when the Gravenhurst/Veridian applications were filed in mid-March.  

     My submissions are divided into the following six sections:  Firstly, the OEB's function as an economic regulator; secondly, the commercial nature of Ontario local distribution companies; thirdly, dealing with the two specific issues identified by the Board in Procedural Order No. 2; fourthly, the position that what the intervenors propose would result in the violation of several components of the Section 1 objectives; fifthly, talk about time-lines associated with the Gravenhurst application; and, finally, I have some submissions on costs.  

     Firstly, the Section 86 scope in review, in the context of the OEB's function and the commercial nature of LDCs.  Prior to addressing the specific issues that the OEB has identified, the following submissions are really intended to address a number of themes raised by individual intervenors, in particular, who may not be as familiar with the OEB and LDCs, and their respective mandates.  But I wanted to address these matters up-front, since the concerns they raise tends to permeate their way through the various matters before the Board today.


Now, Exhibit D1.1, the one‑page handout, is a slide from a presentation that I recently attended that was presented by OEB Staff.  It's headed:  “What is economic regulation?”  And the slide reads:

"The OEB's role is to balance the interests of regulated firms, consumers and society.  The public is well served if both the pricing and the standard of service being delivered are fair and reasonable.  The regulated firms are well served if they are viable businesses so they can sustain these pricing and service levels in the longer term."


I thought this was the best crisp summary of the Board's role that could also be applied to the issues at hand today.


MR. KAISER:  Before you go on, Mr. Rodger, can you help me as to exactly who made this statement and when and where?


MR. RODGER:  This was a presentation by two Board Staff members, Mr. Brian Hewson and Mr. Bill Cowan, and it was an information presentation to a local distribution company board of directors.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. RODGER:  And, in my view, sir, this slide also captures the Section 1 objectives which have been talked about by others this morning.  So for consumer interests, it's fair and reasonable prices and standard of service, and for the LDCs, it's being viable, sustainable businesses.


Now, regarding the nature of LDCs, in our view, some of the confusion that seems to be present in the minds of some of the intervenors, with respect, have resulted in a failure to recognize the fundamental reality that the legal entities we are dealing with in these applications, local distribution companies, are commercial businesses.  Albeit, they are regulated by the OEB, but they are commercial enterprises, and they're owned and operated as such.


As an example, the submissions of Mr. Black, Mr. Sutherland and others, their view is that the RFP process issues, the sale decisions, are flawed because, as residents and consumers and customers, that they in fact are the shareholders of the distributor.  And this is just a fundamentally flawed view, and it clouds the submissions that follow from the intervenors.


As Mr. Ruby has provided in overview, under the Energy Competition Act, municipal electric utilities were reconstituted from basically being an arm or wing of municipal government to commercial corporations under the OBCA, and Mr. Ruby has already taken you through the sections where that happened.


Now, this change was not by accident.  The Province wanted to level the playing field in the energy sector by expecting that electric utilities operated like other regulated businesses, such as natural gas distributors.  Thus, these new corporations became subject to licensing requirements, code of conduct and rate orders.  They paid taxes, which we refer to as PILs, they were allowed to enjoy returns on equity and debt.  


Now, in recent months the Premier and the Minister of Energy have talked about a conservation culture that they want instilled in the province.  In the LDC sector, I suggest that the expectation was and is that these companies and owners would institutionalize a commercial culture where municipal owners provide the strategic direction to have these companies in a way that operates as the council and the owner determines the best interests of their respective communities.


As an example of this, you will recall, Mr. Chairman, a couple of years ago under the first Bill 100, and that was under the conservative government in Ontario, that municipal councils were required, that maintained ownership in their LDC, to make a determination of whether these businesses would operate on a for-profit or not-for-profit basis.  And they had to pass a bylaw stating their preference.  If they didn't pass a bylaw, they reverted to not-for-profit.


Now, the Ontario Energy Board had no role whatsoever to play on that decision, even though that had a huge impact on distribution rates, and some would argue perhaps it was the most important decision on distribution rates.  Likewise, residents, ratepayers, they had no role to play in that debate.  It was the municipal council alone that determined this fundamental commercial question of about the business that it owns.  


Likewise, as part of the distribution rate application process, the OEB does look at rate impacts across classes, but the fundamental issue about whether this is a for-profit or not-for-profit company, the Board does not enquire beyond that.  That's left to the purview of the owner.


And what you're seeing today is applications by municipal shareholders where they've made a decision that only they can make, whether to sell or not.  As you've heard from others, and which we agree, it's not an unfettered right to have the approval.  That's why we're in this process, but that fundamental issue of what to do with the business only remains with council. 


Now, a general criticism of the intervenors is that the residents basically have not had an opportunity to step in the shoes of council and review all bids, for example, because of confidentiality issues and confidentiality agreements.  


Well, in the world of mergers and acquisitions involving commercial transactions, this fact should surprise no one.  When one buys or sells or leases a commercial enterprise, confidentiality agreements are standard practice, but the intervenors are attempting to portray this as somehow untoward behaviour.  And it's our view that it is the failure to recognize this commercial context which is a basis of a number of the submissions of intervenors, and, with respect, it is just plain wrong.


There is an additional issue here that I believe Mr. Warren raised about municipal councils being fiduciaries for ratepayers.  Ms. Newland is going to deal with that matter, so I will leave it, but I think that context is important for the discussion today.


Now, as Mr. Ruby says, we're really here today to decide where the line should be drawn around Section 1 objectives.  And dealing with the two issues ‑‑ looking at the clock, sir, it is almost 11:30.  I could continue on, or if this is a convenient time to break, I'm pleased to do that, as well.


MR. KAISER:  We will break now, if it doesn't upset you.


MR. RODGER:  No, that's fine, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Back in fifteen minutes. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 11:27 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:50 a.m.
     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

     Mr. Rodger?  

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

     Prior to the break, I was about to begin my third topic, that is, dealing with the two specific issues that this Board has raised in the last procedural order.  

     Firstly, the adequacy of the purchase price payable in relation to the proposed transaction.  And, for the same reasons that my friends gave earlier, our view is also that this is not a matter of relevance to this Board.  Again, focusing on my one-page slide from the OEB which talks about firms being well served if they are viable businesses, that nicely captures that the only relevance of adequacy of purchase price is limited to financial viability issues related to the purchaser.  

     And in that context, the OEB is legitimately interested in the stability of the sector.  The question, then, the Board asks itself in the case of Veridian Corporation is whether the purchase price payable will likely impair the financial viability of Veridian; which it clearly won't, in our view, but I will leave that to Ms. Newland.  

     I would note that others have also supported this position, including Hydro One, in their written filing.  

     Now, from the Town's perspective, purchase price is also not relevant.  By the “Town”, I mean the entity that actually receives the money from the purchase price.  The Town requires no leave of this Board to sell shares pursuant to Section 86.  And, again, the determination around what consideration the owner finds adequate can only be left to Town council.  

     As you will know from the pre-filed materials, in the case of Gravenhurst, the consideration which the Town thought was adequate was a combination of purchase price, reliability commitments, employee protection, local presence and so on.  And to enquire into the seller's rationale about adequacy is clearly to second-guess the commercial decision of the owner.  
     And you've already heard references to the Richmond Hill, Caledon, Deep River decisions, this is something the Board said it simply will not and should not do. 

     But there is also another policy reason why the adequacy of the purchase price from the seller's viewpoint is irrelevant to the this Board, and that is because there is no regulatory function, or gap, that is required to be filled by the Board.  Let me explain that.  Economic regulation is often cited as being required where no market exists and, thus, regulation is needed as a proxy for the market.  So, in establishing distribution rates, for example, you don't have multiple distributors within a franchise area to regulate a monopoly, and, therefore, the OEB assumes the role to set just and reasonable rates.  

     Now, however, in the case of LDC transactions, a real market does exist.  In the case of Gravenhurst, the Town had some seven individual offers from five different components, and it was the range from a sale, to a lease, to a merger, and all of these were compared against the status quo.  You had a willing buyer, a willing purchaser.  They negotiated terms and conditions, you have an application before the Board.   

     The process worked.  There was a market, there is no need for regulatory oversight in this context.  

     In our view, to do otherwise, to look at adequacy of purchase price in the context of a real market, would be against economic efficiency.  The OEB would, in effect, be saying to arms-length buyer and seller, that that’s not good enough.  We need to regulate, to oversee, what these arm's-length parties would do, rather than the bargain that they actually bring to the Board, and, in our view, that is inappropriate.  

     So, in our view, to adjudicate adequacy of purchase price from the vantage point of the seller or buyer is to interfere with economic efficiency by interfering in the successful marketplace for this type of asset.  And this would violate Section 1 objectives, which require you to have regard to economic efficiency, by imposing an artificial judgment on price, whereas price has already been established by a free negotiation of a willing buyer and seller.  

     The second issue that the Board identified was the adequacy or integrity of, or the motivation underlying, the tendering, public consultation, public disclosure or decision-making processes associated with the proposed transactions.  We also believe that this issue is not relevant.  But at the outset I wanted to correct a factual error in the presentation of the issue, and that is the adequacy or integrity of the tendering process.  

     The Gravenhurst situation was not a tender situation, at all.   In fact, in my experience, I am aware of no LDC transaction that was a result of a tender.  The Gravenhurst situation was a non-binding request for proposals.  There were no legal obligations created in soliciting, reviewing or, in fact, negotiating different proposals.  And, again, in my view, this is the practice that all municipal councils have followed, that I've been involved with.  

     The municipality has owned and retains the broadest of discretion to do what it likes, with whomever it likes, when it likes, including doing nothing at all.  It could have rejected all proposals and maintained the status quo.  So to describe the issue as a “tender”, fundamentally mischaracterizes the process which was followed in Gravenhurst.  And the Town wanted the Board to understand this so that the record could be accurate.  And, also, this non-binding expression-of-interest approach has also been acknowledged by Veridian in its submission.  

     Beyond that, the broader issue of process is not relevant, given that the OEB really has no function in the process leading to a transaction.  The OEB only becomes relevant once applicants, the buyer and seller in this case, file their MAAD application with the Board.  And whether the municipal owner conducted a public or private process, an RFP, or negotiations with one party, how it dealt with offers, that, in our view, is clearly beyond the Board's authority.  

     What the Town of Gravenhurst Council is to do is its job and what it was elected for, to show leadership in its community by establishing a process which met the Town's needs, and determined an option in the best interests of the Town on the terms and conditions which Council decides suits it best.  And, regardless of how the Town arrived at that decision, in our view, this must be respected by the OEB.  

     And, as others have said, the issue then becomes:  How does that transaction before you comply with the Section 1 objectives? 

     Now, in Mr. Warren's written submissions on behalf of the Gravenhurst Citizens Committee, he raises a number of issues in the form of hypothetical scenarios around process. And I won’t take you through all of these, they're in the record.  

     Our view is that the Board should disregard all of these submissions, entirely, for the purposes of today's matters.  The Board will be aware there's been correspondence back and forth around these hypothetical situations.  They are groundless.  However, they really go to having this Board regulate municipalities, as opposed to regulating LDCs.  

     Now, should Mr. Warren and the individuals associated with the Committee decide to step away from the shield and shadows of the hypothetical situations and actually make some claim, then the Town, the utility and others can consider what remedies to deal with the situation.  And, as has been mentioned by others, if there’s individuals that feel that they have been treated incorrectly, or the municipality has done anything wrong, there are other forums, particularly the courts, where this can be dealt with.  But it should not be dealt with here.   And the idea of raising imaginary concerns in this process is inappropriate and, as said, in our view, they should be disregarded in the determination of the matters before you today.  

     Now, fourthly, in our view, what the intervenors are fundamentally seeking would result in the violation of several Section 1 objectives.  And I just want to summarize the essence of what Mr. Warren and his clients are recommending to you today, and these are primarily in paragraphs 14 and 15 of his submission.  

     They want to review the sale and whether it's in the best interests of ratepayers with respect to prices.  They want to look at whether the option of either not selling or selling to someone else would have resulted in more or less reasonable prices.  They want to look at comparative levels of investment of the status quo, the applicant acquirer, or other potential acquirers, including alternatives to the sale, the status quo, the lease and so on. 
     Look at the alternatives.  Look at the way the alternatives were considered by the owner.  Basically, look at all aspects of this transaction.


Stated another way, the intervenors are really asking, through the OEB's MAAD process, that the OEB itself establish a new forum of RFP process whereby the Board becomes a forum for the Board itself, Board Staff, intervenors, the actual buyer and seller which entered into an agreement, and other potential buyers and sellers, to have the whole package, the whole option of reviews, considered in some form of integrated planning process whereby options and alternative to options and alternative terms and conditions and transactions can all be reviewed in one big happy oral hearing with the OEB being the final arbiter.


And I would ask you to consider what they really are proposing in the scenario of promoting economic efficiency, cost effectiveness and the maintenance of a financially‑viable distribution sector.


It seems to me that the message, particularly the message to parties in the investment community with this process, is to say:  You know, in Ontario we really don't believe in the concept of a willing buyer and seller coming together.  You potential buyers go out, get involved in these municipality RFP processes, do your due diligence, go through the process, negotiate a share purchase agreement, and then come back to the Energy Board.  Guess what?  We're going to do it all again.  


Well, in our view, this would result in the exact opposite of the objectives of the Board, and it is not in the best interests of this sector. 
If the goal is to torpedo investor confidence, in our view, accepting the intervenors' approach would be exactly the way to do it.


Mr. Warren put forward one case, the Rizzo Shoes case, and one aspect of that I would take is the Court said that the legislature does not intend to produce absurd consequences.  And, in our view, such a consequence would occur if the intervenors' proposal of basically rehashing RFPs and transactions before this Board was in any way accepted, and we would urge you to reject that.  


Fifthly, the timeliness of decisions in this matter.  As I indicated at the outset, the Gravenhurst/Veridian application was filed on March 24th, 2005.  Next week, it will almost be four months ‑‑ will be four months since the application has been filed, and we are yet to know the process we have to meet.  


In our view, this can and should be completed by a written proceeding.  There have been no grounds established for an oral proceeding, and we would urge the Board to have a process in place which can have the matter adjudicated in a timely fashion.


I know the Board is aware that local distribution companies across Ontario are facing a number of critical deadlines over the next weeks and months, including the 2006 rate application, the application for recovery of regulatory assets, the commencement of cost allocation reviews and, in the fall, the implementation of the province's Smart Better policy, and the utilities before you today are in somewhat of a hiatus for management and staff, that these matters be resolved quickly.


Finally, on the matter of costs, just to speak to three individual cost requests, Mr. Lingk, Mr. Sutherland and Mr. Black all seek cost awards.  We had asked in earlier correspondence whether these individuals were part of Mr. Warren's committee or whether they had distinct and different concerns.  While we haven't received a response to that, in our view they do seem to have the identical interest in Mr. Warren's group and our view would be that these individuals should not be entitled to costs and that Town of Gravenhurst and Gravenhurst Hydro should not be required to pay twice for interventions that have an identical interest.


Just one final procedural matter that I wanted to clear up.  At the second‑last page of Mr. Lingk's July 9th correspondence to the Board, he said that Borden Ladner Gervais still failed to comply with the OEB's order to release anything but the applications forms to the intervenors.  For the record, and to be clear, on June 24th, we sent the entire application covering some 500 pages to the intervenor, all intervenors on disk, in response to Procedural Order No. 1, and I wanted to clarify this matter for the Board.  


Those are my submissions, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  

    Mr. Rodger, could you turn to the second page of your written submission.  As I understand it, in addition to the orders that you're seeking pursuant to Section 86(2)(a) and 86(1)(c), which you describe in paragraphs (a) and (b) of paragraph 2, you're also seeking issuance of an electricity distribution licence pursuant to Section 60 of the Act; is that correct?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  This is Veridian making this part of the application.  This was really a recitation of the entire relief that the joint application was providing.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  The Town and Gravenhurst alone are simply seeking the leave for the change, but Veridian's intention is to amalgamate.


MR. KAISER:  I will leave this to Ms. Newland in that event, but one of the issues I would like somebody to address at some point is whether there is any different test that arises under Section 60, because if you look at that section, it provides for conditions and various other things.  So since you are seeking, in fact, four different orders, jointly or severally or however you're doing it, perhaps somebody could address that, these other two matters.


And possibly somebody could also clarify whether this is the case with respect to all three applicants; i.e., in addition to the Section 86 orders, you're seeking a licence under Section 60.  Mr. Ruby.


MR. RUBY:  With respect to Greater Sudbury, I can clear that up right now.  Greater Sudbury is only seeking the Section 86 order and nothing else.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


[The Board confers]


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Newland?


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. NEWLAND:

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Chairman and Board Members, for the purpose of my submissions this morning, it would be helpful if you had in front of you a copy of the written submissions that were filed by -- on behalf of Veridian last week on July 13th.  I believe it's Exhibit A‑3.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  We have it.


MS. NEWLAND:  And, also, could you put in front of you a copy of Veridian's brief of authorities?  I provided hard copies to Board Staff this morning.  Do you have those, Mr. Chairman?


MR. KAISER:  No, but we will.


MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Please proceed.


MS. NEWLAND:  Just to follow up on your question, Mr. Kaiser, I would like to confirm for the record that Veridian has applied to the Board for four different heads of relief, if I can put it that way.


The first is leave of the Board under Section 86(2) of the OEB Act to acquire the voting securities of Gravenhurst Hydro.  The second is leave of the Board pursuant to subsection 86(1) of the OEB Act for amalgamation upon completion of the acquisition of Gravenhurst Hydro.  So the intention is to complete the sale transaction, and then amalgamate the two utilities, and for that we need a separate approval under Section 86(1).


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Newland, just to be precise, it is 86(1)(c).


MS. NEWLAND:  That is correct, sir.  That is correct, sir.  And the two other heads of relief are really two sides of the same coin.  We're asking the Board to cancel Veridian's existing distribution licence and issue a new licence to reflect the fact of the new amalgamated utility post sale transaction, post amalgamation.  So those are the four heads of relief we're seeking in our application.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     MS. NEWLAND:  I hope that clears up any misunderstanding.  

     MR. KAISER:  Will you deal with the issue of whether there is a different test under Section 60?  

     MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, sir.  In my submission - you haven't heard my submissions on the test under Section 86 - but, in my submission the test under Section 60 is not any different than the test under Section 86.  And I say that because there are no criteria or guidelines stipulated under Section 60, similarly there are no tests or guidelines stipulated under Section 86 to guide the Board in its determination.  

     So what I say is that the Board has to have regard to the electricity objectives set out in Section 1 of the OEB Act.  And the only thing I would add to that, Mr. Kaiser, is that under Section 60 of the OEB Act, there are various subsections dealing with the types of conditions that the Board can impose on a license and those are in -- actually I misspeak myself.  Those are in Section 70(2) of the Act.  

     I would probably go as far as saying that those would also inform the exercise of the Board's discretion under Section 60.  So you don't take Section 60 and read it in isolation.  It does appear in the context and should be interpreted in the context of the entire Act, including the other provisions that govern the issuance of licenses and also the Board's objectives.  I hope that is helpful.  

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  I only raise it in the context of, if you look at some of those conditions, as you properly pointed out that would inform Section 60, some of those conditions are pretty broad, including requiring the licensee to expand or reinforce its transmission or distribution system.  And argument could be made, if you look at some of these conditions, they go beyond the scope of what has been argued to date under Section 86.  But I leave that to you to deal with.  

     MS. NEWLAND:  I would like to reflect on that comment, if I may, sir, and get back to it later. 

     MR. KAISER:  Oh, of course.  

     MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, Board Members, the crux of the submissions I wish to make this morning is that in exercising its jurisdiction under Section 86 of the OEB Act, the Board must have regard, of course, to public interest.  But regard to the public interest as that is informed, delineated and confined by the two electricity objectives in subsection 1 of the OEB Act.  

     This means that the Board can consider how a proposed sale of shares will affect distribution service and the price that customers have to pay for that service.  It may also consider - and you've heard this from others - how the transaction will affect the financial viability of the acquiring utility and of the electricity industry as a whole, and also you may consider whether the transaction would promote economic efficiency and cost effectiveness in the distribution sector.  

     In our submission, what you cannot consider are the adequacy of the purchase price agreed on by two arm's-length parties to a sale transaction, nor the adequacy of the process leading up to the transaction.  
     As for the adequacy of purchase price, it's not -- this is not news to you, you've heard it from other submittals this morning, but it's not for the Board to second guess the vendor as to whether he is receiving a good enough price for his shares.  Price is relevant only for a limited purpose, and that purpose is ensuring that the price is not so high so as to adversely affect the financial integrity of the purchaser.  

     So the Board can consider price, but only from the perspective of the buyer, in our submission.  It's not for the Board to consider it from the perspective of the seller; i.e. was the price high enough?  

     As to process, you're going to hear submissions from me on behalf of Veridian that the Board has no role in overseeing or prescribing the process leading up to the transaction, subject to any comments I may have upon consideration of the sections that Mr. Kaiser has pointed out to me.  

     My remarks this morning are going to be structured in five parts:  Some comments about the Board's statutory framework; brief submissions about the factors that are relevant and are not relevant to your consideration under Section 86; I have a partial response to what I anticipate we will hear from Mr. Warren on behalf of the Committee of Gravenhurst’s Ratepayers, I reserve the right to add to that response after I've heard Mr. Warren's remarks this morning; I have a very brief submission regarding intervenor costs; and, a submission regarding the relief that Veridian seeks in this proceeding.  

     Let me start with the statutory framework.  There are three relevant provisions, of course, relevant to this debate.  One is Section 142 of the Electricity Act and the other sections are subsections 1, sub 1 and subsection 86(2) of the OEB Act.  

     Now, subsection 142(1) and 142(2) of the Electricity Act empower and, in fact, require municipal corporations to corporatize their municipal electric utilities.  Subsection 142(5), on the other hand, permits municipal corporations to deal with the shares of the corportized utility.  

     Section 142, Mr. Chairman, represents an exception to a general prohibition against municipal corporations owning shares of business corporations.  The purpose of the section then is to permit municipal corporations to do something they would otherwise not be permitted to do.  
     Section 86(2) constrains the ability of a person from acquiring more 20 percent of the shares of an electricity distributor by requiring prior approval of the Board.  

     Now, I think it is important, Mr. Chairman, to point out that section -- subsection 86(2) does not distinguish between publicly and privately owned acquirers.  It constrains alike, all persons who seek to acquire the shares of a distributor, be they municipal corporations such as my client Veridian, or privately-owned corporations such as Fortis, for example.  Subsection 86(2) does not impose a larger burden on municipal or public sector investors relative to private sector investors in this regard.  

     So that leads me to ask the question:  What is the legislative purpose of requiring leave of the Board in connection with the acquisition of utility shares?  In our submission, it's very simple.  The purpose is to prevent any Tom, Dick or Harry from becoming a controlling shareholder and the consequences that flow from that.  

     If I can put it another way, the Board has a responsibility to ensure that persons seeking to acquire a utility, have the wherewithal, financial, operational, and other, to operate the utility in a manner that does not adversely affect ratepayers.  Can the new owner run the business properly?  Can the utility continue to provide safe and reliable service at reasonable rates under new ownership?  That's the question for the Board to consider under Section 86(2), in my submission.  

     Now, this concern about how the utilities and thus its ratepayers would fair under new ownership is precisely the reason the OEB requires a purchaser of utility shares, and not the vendor of those shares, to obtain approval of the transaction.  So in this sense, subsection 86(2) has nothing to do with whether the vendor made a wise decision.  

     At this point, it is probably worth noting that, as the Board is aware, the requirement for Board approval of a utility acquisition, be it shares or assets, is not unique or peculiar to electric utilities.  There is an identical requirement in the OEB Act under Section 43 that pertains to gas utilities.  And indeed, all underpinning statutes of economic regulators in Canada and the United States, as far as I am aware, have a similar requirement.  

     And so this Board -- these types of applications are not new for this board.  And quite apart from the numerous decisions that this Board has made under Section 86(2) the Board has also made similar decisions with respect to various acquisitions along the way of what is now Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. and Union Gas.


Let me deal briefly with -- and I don't want to repeat the submissions of my friends, but with what we say are the relevant factors for the Board to consider under 86(2).  How is the Board to judge whether a purchaser's shares will be a competent owner?  Because subsection 86(2) doesn't set out any test or criteria, we say you have to have regard to subsection 1(1) of the OEB Act, which are the Board's electricity objectives.


I think it is worth noting that public interest objectives of an administrative tribunal, such as the Board, do not broaden the scope of the tribunal's statutory powers.  They don't ‑‑ the objectives are not powers in and of themselves, they merely inform, delineate and confine the interpretation of powers that you otherwise have under other sections of the Act.


And if you needed authority for this, this principle was recently confirmed by the Supreme Court of Canada in the Barrie Public Utilities and Canadian Cable Television Association case, which you will find at tab 1 of my authorities.


I think it is also important to remember, Mr. Chairman and Board Members, that absent clear and express words in your enabling statute, the OEB Act and the Electricity Act, a statutory tribunal has no general public interest jurisdiction.  And the authority for this is the well‑known decision of the Ontario Court of Appeal in the Ainsley Financial Corporation and Ontario Securities Commission decision.


 There is no such express grant of jurisdiction in the OEB Act.  Now, judging from the written arguments that were filed last week, there is little dispute among parties that the Board's electricity objectives do inform the exercise of the Board's jurisdiction under 86(2) of the Act.  Everyone appears to agree on that, and agrees that the Board must proceed in accordance with its objective to protect the interests of consumers.


There does seem to be a dispute, however, about what these five words "protect the interests of consumers" actually mean.  And this is so, despite the fact that subsection 1(1) tells us precisely what these words mean.


Subsection 1(1) states that the Board must protect the interests of consumers "with respect to prices and with respect to the adequacy, reliability and quality of service".  Factors that bear on rates and service are relevant to your consideration under 86(2).  Factors that do not bear on rates for service are not relevant.


Now, some parties to the proceeding are suggesting that the Board can, and indeed should, consider other factors, such as the adequacy of the purchase price from the perspective of the seller, the value put on the shares by competing but unsuccessful bidders, alternatives to the proposed sale and the option of not selling at all, and the process leading up to the sale transaction and whether it was sufficiently inclusive and sufficiently transparent.


In our submission, all of these factors are irrelevant to your consideration of an application under Section 86(2).  They've got nothing to do with ensuring that a utility, under new ownership, will be capable of providing safe and reliable service at reasonable rates.


The fact that what is being sold here is a monopoly that provides an essential service doesn't change what are irrelevant factors into relevant factors under Section 86(2), and I think that submission has been made ‑‑ that suggestion was made, I believe, by -- in the written submission of the Committee of Gravenhurst Ratepayers.  The Board should reject that suggestion.


Indeed, the whole reason that we have regulatory oversight under Section 86(2) and the whole reason that we have to seek the Board's approval to acquire the shares of another corporation is precisely because the acquiror and the acquiree are monopolies that provide essential service.  If they were not, there wouldn't be a MAAD process at all.


The Board's MAAD filing guidelines are indicative of the factors that the Board itself sees as relevant to an exercise of its jurisdiction under Section 86.  Part 2 of those guidelines, in particular, I would refer to you, I would commend to you, because those ‑‑ that part specifies the information that the Board requires "to carry out its mandate vis‑a‑vis its electricity objectives".


So under that part, the Board is requiring that applicants provide certain information to allow the Board to carry out its mandate under Section 2 ‑‑ its mandate under Section 1.


It's significant that the guidelines require information about valuation, about price, under the heading "financial viability", a clear reference to the statutory objectives, in our submission.  Information regarding valuation is not required for any other purpose, and it's certainly not required for determining the adequacy of the purchase price from the perspective of the seller.


This is hardly surprising, because the purchase price does not affect the rates that will be paid by ratepayers.  Rates are derived, of course, by applying a Board‑approved rate of return to the original cost of rate‑based assets, less accumulated depreciation.  So the price paid for utility shares doesn't figure into this calculation.


I have a brief submission about the issue of the relevance of the transparency of the process leading up to the sale transaction.  The MAAD guidelines do not require or even prescribe a public consultation or disclosure process leading up to the sale transaction.


Now, Veridian accepts that the council of the municipality has a duty to follow proper procedures prior to entering into a transaction of this nature.  We do not accept, however, that the Board has any role in this regard and, in particular, that the Board ought to supervise a council's compliance with these procedures.


There's simply no role and no need for the Board to play a supervisory role.  If parties who believe that the Town of Gravenhurst council did not follow proper procedures, for example, or the Town of Sudbury, as alluded to by Mr. Ruby, then those parties have other recourses, either under municipal legislation or they can exercise their democratic right at voting time.


Mr. Chairman and Members of the Board, Veridian would like to make it very clear that in making these particular submissions, we are not saying that factors such as process and price, autonomy and return on investment are not important or not relevant from the perspective of Gravenhurst taxpayers.  Of course they are.  But what we are saying is that they're not ‑‑ it's not for the Board to oversee the decision‑making of the municipal council with regard to these matters.  To do so would be, in our respectful submission, ultra vires your jurisdiction.


Those are my submissions on the factors that are relevant and which are not relevant to your consideration under 86(2).  I have a few comments, Mr. Chairman, on the ‑‑ regarding the written summary of the argument that was filed on behalf of the Committee of Gravenhurst Ratepayers.


We dispute the committee's contention, which is in paragraph 12 of their submission, that the Board's mandate to protect the interests of consumers reflects, among other things, the fact that ratepayers have acquired some sort of an equitable interest in a utility's assets.  In our submission, that is simply wrong.   And I want to take some time to rebut this assertion, because I think it is an important point.  

     Perhaps, could I just get you to turn to paragraph 12 of the submission of the committee of Gravenhurst ratepayers.  I would just like to read it.  It's not very long.  It says -- it starts by saying:

“That the legislature would maintain special protection for the interests of consumers reflects, we submit, several policy considerations.  One is that electricity distribution is a monopoly business.  Another is that electricity is an essential service, one without which consumers cannot survive.” 

     Now I have addressed both of these points earlier in my remarks.  It goes on to state:

“A third is that the use of the assets of the electricity LDC is paid for by its ratepayers --”

     Correct.   I have no quarrel up to that part of the sentence.  It goes on to say:

          " -- with the result that electricity LDCs hold those assets as, in effect, fiduciaries for their ratepayers."  

     I have a big red "no" beside this in the margin of my copy of those submissions.  Customers pay for service, not for the property used to render it.  Over the years, the customers of Gravenhurst Hydro have been provided with safe and reliable service for which they pay reasonable -- just and reasonable rates.  By paying for service, they do not acquire any interest, legal or equitable, in the property used to provide the service by virtue of payment of rates.  

     This is well-settled law.  I have included, at tab 2 of Veridian's book of authorities, a well-known - it's well-known to regulatory enthusiasts - 1926 decision of the Board of Public Commission versus New York Telephone Company, a decision by the US Supreme Court.  In that decision -- it might be helpful if you could just turn to page -- the pagination is kind of confusing, Mr. Chairman, but if you turn to page 30 -- 32. 

     MR. KAISER:  That's the last page? 

     MS. NEWLAND:  It's the second-last page, actually, on the right hand side, halfway down the middle left of that long list of cites.  The Supreme Court of the United States states:

“The customers are entitled to demand service and the company must comply.  The company is entitled to just compensation, and to have the service the customers must pay for it.  The relation between the company and its customers is not that of partners, agent and principal, or trustee and beneficiary.”  

     So it’s not, by virtue -- so customers do not acquire any interest in the property that is used to provide service, and the owner of the property is not acting as a trustee on behalf of those customers.  It seems to be --that seems to be what Mr. Warren is suggesting in his brief.  

     If you turn over, Mr. Chairman, to page 33.  On the left-hand side, the first full paragraph starts with the words “customers may pay for service”.   It goes on to say:  

“Customers pay for service, not for the property used to render it.  Their payments are not contributions to depreciation or other operating expenses, or to capital of the company.  By paying bills for service, they do not acquire any interest, legal or equitable, in the property used for their convenience or in the funds of the company.”

     MR. KAISER:  Is it different, Ms. Newland, if the company is municipally owned?   

     MS. NEWLAND:  In my -- 

     MS. KAISER:  New York Telephone was a Bell company, as I recall.  It was privately owned. 

     MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, sir.  In my submission, no, there is no difference.  Section 86 does not distinguish between a municipal corporation -- a municipally-held utility or a privately-held utility.  So, in my estimation, there is no distinction to be made in that regard.  

     I don't know if this actually -- the next case in the book of authorities, Mr. Kaiser, is a case decided by the Pennsylvania Commonwealth Court in 1981, with respect to the Philadelphia Suburban Water Company.  I suspect that is also a private company.   But in that case -- I have included it in my book of authorities simply to illustrate that this, the decision of the Board of Commissioners and New York Telephone Company, has been confirmed and adopted as recently as 1981.  

     There's two other authorities that I have included in my book of authorities to support the proposition that I am making in these remarks.  And I think, again, it's useful to turn to tab 6, which is a decision of the National Energy Board in respect of an application by TransCanada Pipeline to build what turned out to be the Iroquois pipeline.  And this was quite a lengthy proceeding.  And one of the issues in the proceeding was whether or not toll-payers - so customers of TransCanada, historic customers of TransCanada, who had paid tolls on the pipeline for many, many years - had acquired some kind of vested interest, or some sort of proprietal interest in the pipeline by virtue of the fact that they paid tolls, such that they should be afforded special treatment and not have to pay for expansions that were being applied for to provide service to new shippers.  

     And at page 12 of that decision, the Board, in addressing those arguments, states right on the very -- on the left-hand column, at the top, it states:
“In this regard, the Board agrees with those who submitted that the payment of tolls confers no future benefits on toll-payers beyond the provision of service.  In other words, previous toll-payers have no acquired rights.  They cannot --“

    It goes on to talk about the fact that they cannot expect to be exempted from a toll increase simply because they've paid tolls in the past.  

     And the last authority I would like to refer you to, Mr. Chairman, Board Members, is the authority that you will find behind tab 7 of my book of authorities.  And that is an article entitled, “The Efficient Allocation of Proceeds from Utility Sales of Assets”.  It's a really lengthy article, fascinating reading.   But I would only like to refer to page 245 of that article, under the heading “The Positions of Shareholders and Customers”.  It’s stated:
“A utility's customers are not its owners, for they are not residual claimants.  In the course of obtaining service from a regulated company, customers have a contract with the company for a fixed price and defined service.  They purchase goods or services at a price that covers the firm costs of using its assets.  Customers thereby pay for the price of the use of land and equipment that the firm employs.  The payment does not incorporate acquiring ownership or control of the utility assets." 

     Mr. Chairman, I have a brief submission about intervenor costs.  And I think I can pare my submission down and just adopt the submission of Mr. Rodger, made on behalf of the Town of Gravenhurst, with respect to the four individual intervenors in the Gravenhurst/Veridian application.  Their interests appear to be aligned, or even identical to the interests of the Committee of Gravenhurst Ratepayers.  And if that, in fact, is the case, then our submission is that these individuals should not be eligible for a separate award of costs. 

     In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, the application of Veridian for approval under Section 86(2) of the OEB Act has been before the Board for, coming up, four months.  

     We ask the Board to accept our submissions regarding the proper scope of Section 86(2) and proceed expeditiously to render its decision in this generic proceeding, and then render its decision with respect to Veridian's own applications under Section 86.  

     In our submission, none of the intervenor objections to the proposed acquisition by Veridian are relevant to the Board's review under Section 86.  It's therefore not necessary to make any further provision to hear these irrelevant objections.  


If the Board thinks otherwise, we urge you, in the strongest possible terms, to establish an expedited procedure that will minimize the additional time and money that all parties will have to expend in connection with this process.  A written submission process with short turnaround times would suffice and should suffice in this regard, in our submission.  


Thank you for your time, Mr. Chairman.  Those are my submissions made on behalf of Veridian Connections.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Ms. Newland.  You mentioned in your opening that this was an arm's-length transaction, as did Mr. Bredt.  Now, it may be that he was just referring to the Board's Deep River decision and that's why that catchy phrase became handy.  And, at the same time, you say we're not entitled to look at the process at all.  So I'm a little bit confused as to why you emphasized the fact that this was an arm's-length transaction.


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, I'm not sure that I intended to make a nexus between the fact that it was an arm's-length transaction between a willing buyer and a willing seller and the fact that you're not, as you stated -- and I probably wouldn't say it quite as strongly, that you're not entitled to look at process leading up to the sales transaction.


I think I was observing that -- it's really the point Mr. Rodger made well in his submission, that these ‑‑ that we are now in an environment where we have for-profit utilities and they have been given the powers under the OBCE Act ‑‑ OBCA Act of acting as all for-profit corporations.  And in this case we have no ‑‑ we have a proposed transaction between a willing buyer and a willing seller.  


I don't think I intended anything more.  I certainly didn't intend that that, the fact that it was an arm's-length transaction, informed your jurisdiction as to whether or not you could look at process.  I think that is quite a separate issue.


I'm sorry, that sounds a bit garbled, but I guess my response is I don't think there is a nexus between the two.


MR. KAISER:  You mentioned that - and all of you have, I suppose - that if the price is too low, if anything, that benefits the consumer.  I think this was Mr. Ruby's point, because it's not going to push up rates in the future.  If the price is too high, there might be a problem in that regard.


Then both of you said, Well, if the taxpayer as opposed to the ratepayer, i.e., the electricity customer, has a problem, he has other remedies under the Municipal Act.


Now, aside from turfing out the council at the next election, whenever that may be, let's say it had nothing to do with an LDC.  Let's say they were selling a school or a park.  What remedy does the taxpayer in a municipality have if the council sells an asset below its fair market value?  Mr. Ruby?


MR. RUBY:  Well, if the municipality only sold the asset below its fair market value and that was the only factor --


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. RUBY:  -- then my submission is that the proper remedy is a political one, in an election context.  But if, for example, there was a bid process, a tendering ‑ which isn't what went on here ‑ that breached the well-known common law rules with regard to tendering, you would then have recourse to the courts.  


If, for example, a bylaw that made the sale or authorized the sale was not passed in conformance with the Municipal Act, there would be, I suppose, two different remedies to the courts:  One, judicial review, potentially; and one to quash the bylaw, again under the Municipal Act.


So you can imagine situations where if a municipality had acted -- you know, the brother of the mayor sold the school to his brother for a price far below fair market value, you could see where there may be room for court intervention.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.  We have now reached the -- I guess the end of all of the applicants' submissions, have we?  We will take an hour for lunch at this point and come back and hear from ‑- unless, of course, any of you gentlemen that are from out of town, if you have to leave, I'm sure we could accommodate you by breaking later and hear you now.  

     Of course, you do have a right of reply, in which case you may want to wait until the end of it.  We're in your hands.  We will accommodate whatever your schedules are.  I realize some of you have come from some distance.


MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  If I may, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, sir.


MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  We have a four-and-a-half hour drive back to Sturgeon Falls.  If we could be heard right after lunch, that would suffice.


MR. KAISER:  Would it help you if we heard you right now?


MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  I leave it up to you.


MR. KAISER:  No, I leave it up to you.


MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  Surely.


MR. KAISER:  All these high-priced lawyers can wait for lunch.


MR. SUTHERLAND:  Mr. Chair, we're only from the quaint little Town of Gravenhurst, but later on the traffic is going to be pretty horrendous out there for us to try to escape, and we certainly do want to escape from Toronto, but I would prefer if you could --


MR. WARREN:  Not to mention the high‑priced lawyers.


MR. KAISER:  Does that create any problem for you, Mr. Ruby, if we hear from these gentlemen before we break for lunch?


MR. RUBY:  Not at all.


MR. KAISER:  Are you all right?  Mr. Laflèche, do you want to --

     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  You surprised me, Mr. Chairman, with this, so if you could just bear with me for a second.


MR. KAISER:  Take your time.  No rush.


MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, may I just ask you a question of clarification followed up from a question you asked me through my remarks, and I said I would get back to it and I don't think I did?


You referred to the Section 70(2) of the OEB Act, which sets out the examples of conditions that the Board may impose on licences.  You alluded to a provision that permits the Board to look at process.  Maybe I misheard you, but I just wondered if you could refer me to the provision that you were precisely thinking about.


MR. KAISER:  My question in general was, if you look at those sections -- and you're asking for a licence under Section 60, as I recall.


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  If you look at the conditions that the statute says the Board can impose, whether that gives you a sense of a broader scope than one would see under Section 86.  Mr. Laflèche, are you ready?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:

MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, yes.  Ms. Nowina, Mr. Vlahos, we are extremely pleased to be here this afternoon.  Earlier we thought we would be out of here this morning, but we are extremely pleased to be here for this oral hearing, and we take great pride that the OEB Board has allowed us to be present.


I want to first of all congratulate the Board and its Staff, because I think without the Staff, I'm not even sure if we would be up this far as where we are, but we certainly had a lot of help along the way from people like to Tobi Baumhard, Bernie Miller, Peter O’Dell, John ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Don't praise them too much.  It goes right to their head.


MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  I just wanted to make sure that whatever happens here happens, and we are really appreciative of the fact.


I want to go through a few items first that -- if nothing else sticks with the OEB Board Panel here today, remember this.  And I will start off with this here, and then I will get into my other presentation.  Up to March 22nd, 2005 when Council passed the resolution to sell our hydro, not one public meeting was held.


I hear now Gravenhurst had three public hearings; others have had more.  We have had absolutely nothing from our Council up until the day that the announcement was made that they had sold to the Greater Sudbury, which was February 4th, 2005, and that the process had started somewhere in the November of 2004.  Council do not even let their own West Nipissing Services Limited board know that they were going to sell this entity.  They, in fact, usurped the powers of the Energy Services Board.


MR. KAISER:  How do you know that, that Council didn't let the board know what was going on?


MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  I will get to it in a minute, but I can answer it right now.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  Because we talked to some of the Board members after.  They were totally surprised.  When they were invited to the announcement on February 4th, they had no idea of it, because the only one that had any knowledge of it, around somewhere in December, was the chairwoman, who Council then thought that they had better bring someone in and swore her to secrecy.  This is a known fact.  It's all in the press.  So she attended maybe a few meetings, so that is to answer your question, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.    

     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  So I will get back to -- council did not even let their own West Nipissing Energy Services board know that they were negotiating this sale from November 2004 to February of 2005 until the morning of the announcement. 

     We asked the question:  Why?  This, we feel, is a different -- or a difference from all the other applications here.  It is a different scenario, where you have both the hydro boards and the municipalities together going one way.  In our case, we have the municipality that usurped powers.   So our -- basically, in our point of view, and from our group's points of view - who are in excess of 300, closer to 600 now, out of some 3300 -  it's their view that this should not have been done.  

     First of all, the West Nipissing Energy Services board should have been made aware of it.  At one point - getting to your point, Mr. Chairman - at one point the chairwoman of the West Nipissing Energy Services Limited was briefed of the pending sale in December, or January - we're not sure of that - of 2004-2005.  We believe and sworn to -- 2004.  In 2004 -- and sworn to secrecy.  And the chairwoman made that notation publicly, and it's in the news media.  

     We have it here, and I think the Board also has it.  I sent a copy of it to the Board, where the chairwoman did state she was sworn to secrecy and therefore never told the board.  

     The press conference was held the previous day.  The press conference was called - sorry - the previous day, February 3rd, for the press to attend, but not given the reasons why. 

     Council stated publicly that both North Bay Hydro and Sudbury Hydro were given the same material, same opportunity, basically, at the same time.  This simply did not happen.  

     And, again, I know the question is going to be, How do I know?  We've contacted - I was going to say “Ontario Hydro” - North Bay Hydro.  And we wish and reply that the board -- the OEB Board contact the chairperson of the North Bay Hydro, contact its members.   

    There was a phone call that was made to ask if North Bay would be interested.  North Bay said yes, and the next thing they knew, on February 5th, in the North Bay Nugget, they read that it had been sold.  They never heard one more word from the Municipality of West Nipissing over this proposed sale, whether it was by RFP, whether it was by tender, whatever.  We don't know, as citizens.   All we know is what we've gathered in the information process that we have.  

     In June of 2004, the then engineer of the Municipality of West Nipissing, in conjunction with the coordinator of the financial services for the Municipality of West Nipissing, projected a break even, or minor surplus.  This is 2004, contrary to what transpired in November where a press release came out that stated there could be the possibility of a huge deficit, and the huge deficit was somewhere around $100,000 a year.  The “possibility”.  We don't know if it happened.  We still haven't seen a budget.  

     This year, June 13th, I believe it was, my brother, Len, attended one of the very few West Nipissing Energy Services board meetings that were made public.  Because they're never called, no one knows.  And then, the director stated that there was a surplus - that's just last month, right now - within the West Nipissing Energy Services of 152,000, give or take a bit.  

     So there was no big dynamic loss that was told to the residents, that we've got to sell this, we've got to get rid of it, you're going to suffer, and only a portion of the people will pay, those residents that are on the service.  

     I'm on the service.  He's on the service.  And just to give you an idea of what that entails, we amalgamated from -- Sturgeon Falls used to be 6,000 population.  We had our own hydro utility -- still do, mind you, but it is now called West Nipissing Energy Services.  Cash Bay, a little town three miles down the road from us, had their own utility, also.  Through amalgamation, these two were combined.  So, totally, we have 6,000 from Sturgeon Falls, we have roughly 800 population from Cash Bay that are on the grid.   Give or take a hundred, we say 7,000.  The total population of West Nipissing is roughly 14,000.  I think it’s a little less.  I think it’s 13,650.   I’m using round figures. 

     In getting to what Mr. Ruby was stating, pricing doesn't matter when it’s high or low, I kind of disagree.  I kind of agree with what the Chairman stated, but if Mr. Ruby has a home for $1,000,000, and I want to pay 250, and he’s going to sell it to me for it, I'll take it.  That’s -- I mean, this is northerners talking.  

     The other thing that we have in common with the other areas is that, after being amalgamated, we did get into, probably, a little mess that I think we probably got out of after.  But we still maintained our own identity.  Sturgeon Falls should be celebrating, we feel, the 100th anniversary, because hydro was first brought into Sturgeon Falls in 1905.  I'm not sure of the month, but 1905.  2005: 100 years this year.  Instead of selling an entity, we feel that Sturgeon Falls should be celebrating 100 years of hydro, which was very good to its residents.  Hydro rates were low.  No one complained, and we had extremely good service.  

     We feel, also, that by going to Sudbury, by not going to a tender, RFP process, or whatever kind of process they could have went to, and informed the public before they made the final decision, would have been the best way to go.  

     Sudbury is an hour away from Sturgeon Falls any way you shake it.  North Bay is 20 minutes.  If we -- in Northern Ontario, 4.5 hours from here, we have steady, minus-40 weather from February through to March.  And if something goes down - the roads go down and the lines go down - we're dependent on Sudbury Hydro later.  We don't know how it's all going to shake out.  Maybe it’s for the good; and maybe it isn't.  And we certainly don't have anything against Sudbury, per se.  That's not the point here.  The point is the way this all came about, without the public knowledge.  

     Now, if I may -- I can continue?      

     MR. KAISER:  Please go ahead.  

     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  I would just like to go -- Mr. Ruby kind of stole my thunder here.  He worked on -- 15 minutes on our presentation here.  

     But I would like to get into the transparency end of it.  And we’re trying to follow the rules of the Board, that the Board set out and they asked us certain questions as to why we should or shouldn't, and we're trying to stay within your A and B.  Transparency as you all have the copy of this only one-page letter:  we're not lawyers, so -- and we don't have a secretarial staff of $100,000 each, so we did it ourselves with our little group.  We’ll elaborate on the issues at the oral hearing on July 19th - as we are today - through our documented submission on June 13th, 2005, as well, as the original submissions to the OEB.  

     I'm going to go a little bit faster.  I'm not going to go through the letters that Len sent to Jay, and Jay sent back to Len, because, basically, the letter that Len sent to Jay was -- the staff of the OEB told us we should at least make the municipality aware that we are objecting to this officially, because we had officially objected the day after February 5th, I believe it was -- no, that was a Saturday, so it would have been a Monday.   But anyway, so we sent one in, and then we got a response from Jay.  But we will go to the letter of -- sent by the West Nipissing Energy Services director, April 19th.  

     This is the response, because a lot of the members in any municipality -- I think, as everyone on the Board knows - and I've been on boards, also, so I do know this for a fact - a lot of the residents will not get up and speak.  A lot of the residents will not take the time out.  A lot of the residents are afraid.   A lot of the residents do not want to have their name out in the public.  They don’t want to be in the paper.  They don't want to lose work.  They don’t want to lose the possibility of gaining any monies they can from whatever business transactions within a small town, that type of thing.  

     So we asked the -- when we found out that the OEB will allow cost allowances, we applied --
     MR. KAISER:  I’m sorry, Mr. Laflèche.  Can you just slow down a little bit, I think the court reporter is having a little trouble.  We’ve got lots of time, don’t -- you don’t have to --

     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:   Is it too fast?   I’m sorry.  Do you want me to start over?

     In his response to us -- sorry.  In his response to the Board, I should say -- and I’ll just read this last paragraph:

“As a result, the applicant requests approval of its application without an oral hearing, and the denial of Brian and Len Laflèche’s requests that be eligible for costs.”  

     We now know we have been awarded costs, to some extent.   We're not sure what yet.  And we are paying all the way, and we've told that to our group that we would, as far as we could go.  So if there are any lawyers here, listening, pro bono would be very nice.  

     In another area, in the bottom of the transaction of February 1 -- or, submission of February 1:

“Before the transaction was accepted in principle, the Municipality of West Nipissing dealt with this matter in a manner intended to achieve the best possible result for its residents and consistent with municipal law.  In fact, on numerous occasions Brian and Len have been invited to address council with respect to this matter.  They have not taken up that invitation.”

     And this is so much garbage.  That never happened.  We had never been invited to -- from November to March the 21st, was the only time -- never been invited in writing.  Never been invited verbally.  Not one member of council nor the mayor contacted us from November.  We're well known in town.  

     From November of 2004 to the day we walked in with 127, 127 letters of support, not a petition; letters of support.  We asked the OEB how to go about it, and they suggested a petition may not be the best way; write up a letter that people can read, underline it and they will sign it.  They will print their name.  They will address and they will date it, which is what we did, and we did the same for the Board.  After we applied to the Board, we gave another 100 here and we picked up an extra 100, and I think we worked two-and-a-half hours.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Baumhard, is that in the record?  


MR. BAUMHARD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  The names of the individuals that are part of this group?


MR. BAUMHARD:  Yes.


MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  There is another excerpt I just wanted to bring to the attention.  It just goes to show, like, there is so much misinformation and there is so little time and we have so little knowledge.  We don't have the lawyers, so we just can't keep up with the voluminous amount of ‑‑ here we go again today. 


I mean, we don't have the resources to do it.  We're trying our best, and we will take this as far as we think we can lawfully go and rightfully go, because we think we're on the right track.  But this here was last Tuesday's council meeting.  I won't read the whole thing, but it talks about the Ontario Energy Board to discuss utility sale.

“The Ontario Energy Board is deciding whether it will hear arguments by the Save Our Hydro Group, which opposes the sale of the West Nipissing Services, Council heard Tuesday.  The hearing of the Ontario Energy Board set to discuss the scope of the issues is set for Tuesday.”

     Sorry, am I going too fast?  

"The Save Our Hydro Group was granted intervenor status in the upcoming OEB hearing concerning the May 19th sale of the energy service to Greater Sudbury Utilities.  The Group, headed by brothers Len and Brian, said it was concerned.  Municipal officials kept quiet about details of the sale.  The municipality announced February 4th an agreement in principle to sell the energy services to Greater Sudbury Utilities Inc. after the transaction is approved by the OEB.  The deadline for written arguments about the sale is today."  


That would have been last week, the 13th.  

"A decision on how it will proceed will follow."  


In brackets -- in quotations, sorry:

"'We would like to see this transaction concluded and we would like to get the transfers get the benefits to our community under way as soon as possible', West Nipissing's chief administrative officer stated.  Mr. Barbeau said that the only complaints the municipality has heard about the sale are those from the Save Our Hydro Group."

     Well, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel, I'm sure Mr. Baumhard or Mr. O’Dell, if he is here, know that other letters have come in not from our group.  We don't even know who they are, but I do know that there was a file opened up probably February the 8th.  A bunch of letters of objection came in, and that is the reason that they opened a file way before this even started.


Subsequent to that, the Chamber of Commerce attended a meeting in late May or early April of Council asking the Council to have a public meeting to disclose everything.  They dithered on it, but finally accepted that they would have one complex to hold 650 people.  They put 650 chairs up.  They had 60 people that attended.


At that meeting -- April the 6th.  At that meeting, the Chamber of Commerce vice-president - and his name is Yvon Duhaime, and you can contact that name if you want, and he asked me to drop that name to you, he would be pleased to talk to you - spoke for two minutes.  And only two minutes was he allowed for that and that was the end of the story for him.
We did not go, because we were told basically that it was a done deal.  

     Now, it was in Sudbury's court, Sudbury made the application.  Our only recourse was to go to the Ontario Energy Board, which is what we did.  


When we were asked by the Chamber to attend this meeting, we said, No, it's fruitless.  All they're probably going to do is just rehash some of the things that we already know and they won't give out any information.  That is exactly what happened. 


I just wanted to bring that to the Board's attention as to a lot of things that are going out misleading, misguiding, and people, because it is coming through council - and rightfully so - they think it is true.


Then, I guess this would be ‑‑ I don't want to give the wrong dates here.  Okay, on March the 29th, this is ‑‑ this also was sent to the Ontario Energy Board, and I will just read a little excerpt from it, but it has to do with a $1.3 million increase in the Sturgeon Falls water and sewer rates.  They didn't sell it, they haven't sold that yet.  


Council's water and sewer operations is 1.1 million in red which led a councillor, named Dan Olivier, who is chairman of general government, to make a statement.  The whole thing is here, and it's four pages, I believe, in the Tribune, but I will just read this one that concerns me.  

"'If I was Brian Laflèche sitting here -- I'm not blaming you, Madam Mayor, or anyone else, but I can now understand why he, Brian Laflèche, is taking the position he has on the hydro sale', said Olivier, which caused the mayor to call a point of order."

     This was because he was not aware of that pending deficit.  He walked in there and he made mention at a public meeting that there was a deficit, and as chairman of general government -- these are just all pointers that we ‑‑ maybe they are political, and I know Peter Ruby probably will be making statements to that fact after we're gone, and that's fine.  We will get the transcripts of it.  


I'm just trying to get you a feel of what is going on in a small town in northern Ontario where it is really cold in the winter and really hot in the summer.


I'm going to jump now to -- I'm just going to close, Mr. Chairman.  I realize it is a long day for everyone and it's longer for others, probably.  We really would have wished that PIAC would have been given the same mandate as others.  I do realize the Chair made the decision, and I kind of have to agree with that decision, also, because he certainly didn't put in everything that everyone else has.


 Panel Members, just the enormous amount of activity in the past two weeks, with everyone wanting to get in on this issue, from the lawyers, to AMO, to PIAC, the public interest, requesting intervenor status or observer status has to be a signal to the OEB that there is something definitely wrong with the process.  What process?  How we're going to fix it?  I don't know.


Ultimately, the right of the public has to be protected.  That's where we're coming from.  We seem to be hearing here all day from all the lawyers that the Board is confined to these two little areas and don't touch the rest of it.  I disagree with it, because the public has to be protected.  The ad that went out in the Sudbury newspaper and also in The Tribune asked us if we had any objections, i.e., from the OEB's point of view, to object, which we did.


Now, if we cannot be covered under the OEB Act, what would be the purpose of having the ad?  What would be the purpose of having the ad?  What would be the purpose, period?  So we're here today stating that we think we're on the right track.  We think that we are going to be given a really good opportunity later on, whether it be written or oral.  Right now we're taking this as our oral presentation, so if it's a written, so be it.


AMO cites over 100 orders similar to the present have been accepted by the OEB and allowed to go ahead.  Our question to AMO and to the Board has to be:  How many of the citizens' groups backed out at the last minute, allowing their status to be cancelled and the order to proceed?  We would probably be close to 100.  That's where we stand, because people will not get involved.  


People like us almost did pull out, because we just don't have the funds to come down here and spend two days or three days in Toronto and spend $160 a night at a hotel and eat.  As a matter of fact, the binders that we sent you came from one of the dollar stores, I believe.  I'm almost ashamed to say it.


We are determined more than ever now that what we are doing is the right thing, especially seeing what is going on here today and seeing the influx of interest.  So what seems to be happening here is everyone is trying to take a stance in making sure that the OEB does not just step out of that little box that they're set in and whatever reason everybody thinks they're in.  


I don't think they're in that.  And I think precedence could be set and this could be a precedent-setting case, and I think our case has merit to look at it in that context.  When we look at the fact that the Council did not even trust its own energy board, you have to ask the question:  Why?  What are you hiding?  I think that has to be main argument.


Is the municipality's right to sell more important than the public's right to know?  Only history will tell.  In the Save Our Hydro case, we feel that the waters have been muddied purposely between Council and the West Nipissing Energy Services Limited board.  


Council is trying to have it both ways, trying to say that they are operating under the Municipal Act; therefore, muddying the waters in that end.  They then usurp the powers of the West Nipissing Energy Services without telling them, go behind their backs and try to make a sale, and then try and say, Well, we're working under the Ontario Energy Board Act.


Well, you can't have your cake and eat it, too.  There has got to be a common ground here somewhere.  They're doing something right, or they're doing something awful wrong.  Under the Municipal Act, as far as I know it - and that could have changed, because I have been out there now for well over two years.  Law was enacted that allowed council to go in camera in three specific areas to discuss options.  We have no problem with that, for most of the time we have no problem with that, but to bring it back for public scrutiny and to debate before entering into any final decisions.  That is the way this Save our Hydro Group thought this issue should have been handled within the Municipality of West Nipissing for the towns of Sturgeon Falls and Cash Bay.  

     In closing, I think we're just going to wish the Board well.  I know you have a lot to deliberate on.  I hope that you will see favour in some of what we have stated.  I hope that you will see the passion that we have put into this.  We have nothing to gain, but have a lot to lose.  
     Others have said, Well, there's a way to go around it.  It can be sold.  We can fight it at the next election.  Sure.  You will never get your energy board -- your energy utility back.  Once it is sold, it's sold, it's gone.  

So that's a lame duck for us.  We won't even entertain that question now.  That doesn't give us anything.  
    If you decide that that is the way it is going to go, even if we get enough power and manpower to oust the next council, the energy board will be sold.  And that's a fact.  And that's from us in Cash Bay.

      We have made two presentations in the town of Cash Bay over this issue; just at a coffee shop, a small group.  28 people showed up, 28 people signed the forms.  We went a second time, 28 people showed up, I think probably the same 28 but I'm not sure of that, and they signed the forms.  And we sent these forms on to either Tobi or Peter.  So everything that we have stated here, the OEB already has.  

     So, in closing, all I ask, Mr. Chairman, Members of the Panel, would you please consider our plight here.  And our plight is, I think, different in some ways than all of the others.  We do have commonalities, I don't disagree with that, but when you have - and I’ll emphasize it and reemphasize it - a council that usurps the powers of an energy board, and the energy board is asked to sign-on minutes before an announcement is made that the whole energy board is sold, and then they come back to us, after months saying, had we known about it we wouldn't have signed it, there is something wrong with the system.  I hope you can fix the system.  Thank you very much.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Laflèche, just a couple of questions.  You made the point that not only was the public not consulted, but the board of directors, if you will, if that's the right term, of West Nipissing -- 

     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  West Nipissing Energy Services board of directors.  

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  Was not consulted until the last 

moment.  Did that board ever vote on this transaction?  

     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  Did it ever vote on the transaction?  That would be a really good question, I never thought to ask it.  I would probably say not, because I think the Council, when they took the powers away from the board, they themselves voted on it at a council meeting.  And there was a council meeting on March 22nd, it was a special council meeting called that was not publicized as:  This is going to be the meeting where everyone is welcome, we're going to be discussing the issue, nothing of that nature at all.  There was an announcement I heard that was made that it would be a public meeting of council on March 22nd, which is out of the realm.  They usually hold their meetings on the first and third Tuesday of the month, and this was the Tuesday after that.  
    So it was a special meeting to deal just with that resolution and the mayor called the question.  I have a taped copy of it.  If the Board wants that, I've got it.  Ad all the mayor, the only thing the councillors did was:  Do you agree with this?  And they all put their hands up and that was the ends of the story.  The meeting didn’t last very long.  
     So to answer your question, I don't think the energy board sat at a meeting.  What I do know, from talking to some of the energy board members, is that they were called.  If you want to call that a meeting, well, that’s not what I call a meeting, but they were called in the morning of February 4th when the announcement was made, roughly between 8 and 9 o'clock, maybe a little later, I'm not sure exactly what the hour it was made.  They were all called in and asked -- told about this four month meeting, and that their chairman had been invited to a few of the meetings, not all of them, and that they were asked to sign on that they were going to be selling it.  For whatever reason.  We 

don't know what went on behind closed doors, so I’m not going to anticipate that.  That was where they decided.  

     When the mayor came out and made the presentation in front of the press, she stated that everyone concerned was on side.  And that is in the paper.  As a matter of fact, you would have a copy of that here.  I would have sent that.  

     MR. KAISER:  Now, we understand your concern about the process and you heard, of course, the -- you realize this is a legal question as to whether the Board has the jurisdiction, the legal right, if you will, to question the process or even examine it.  But do you have any basis for a concern that the acquisition by Sudbury of the shares here, of West Nipissing, will in any way adversely affect rates or the reliability of service in your community? 
     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  From what I read out of the report that we have a copy of that, that they graciously sent us, the consultants’ report, it looks like it is in the positive, to be honest with you, on the residential side of it.  But the commercial end they talked very little, and we did try.  And I think I was even asked 

at that meeting, where the Chamber of Commerce was present with Counsel present, the question was asked about commercial rates, and no answer was given by Counsel at the time.  They didn't want to talk about that.  
     So all I can tell you, if you want to hear what the rumour is, the rumour is they're going up a third, 30 percent or something.  Now that's a rumour, but I would highly doubt that.  I guess Doug is here and he could probably answer that better than I.  From our point of view, residential, I think it is probably something we could live with. 

     MR. KAISER:  And what about reliability?  You’ve mentioned how cold it is up there and how hot, is there any reason for suspecting that there will be a problem in terms of reliability if this acquisition proceeds?  

     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  Yes, I think there could be, and Len here was a former power line man.  Maybe Len would want to say a bit on that.

     MR. LEN LAFLÈCHE:  Yes, I spoke to the three linemen that work out of West Nipissing, and they have been told that they will be working, two will be working approximately six months in the Sudbury area as soon as the takeover occurs, leaving one in Sturgeon.  This information I received from the linemen that are there.  

     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  And I think when we go into that realm, what we look at basically is, that with the cold weather our trucks have down.  Everybody's trucks have been down.  I mean, let’s face it, the fire trucks don't run some times.  But at least there are local people that can respond.  If we only have one person here, one person cannot climb a pole.  You have to have at least two, maybe three for safety reasons, whatever the case may be.  I'm not an expert on that, but I do know that.  
     So if something goes down and everybody happens to be in Sudbury, it could happen in minus 40 weather, it could happen with an accident on Highway 17, and that would just block everything right up.  Very little access other than that, unless you come by Toronto and come back down 11.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ruby, are you applying for a licence under Section 60?  

     MR. RUBY:  No.  

     MR. KAISER:  Why is that? 

     MR. RUBY:  Because these are -- this is merely a purchase of shares.  There will be two separate hydro utilities. 

     MR. KAISER:  So the existing license will continue?  

     MR. RUBY:  Same license, though I would note, with respect to your technical issue, is that -- one example is that cross -- the use of facilities and personnel between two utilities enhances reliability.  For example, I'm told, to bring it down to the very mundane level, that the bucket truck in West Nipissing isn't working, so one can be brought in from Sudbury to do the job.  So inevitably there will be back and forth in terms of making sure the two systems work together.  But I am not sure this is the time or the place to get into those details. 

     MR. KAISER:  No.  
     By the way, will you do the Board a favour and make sure you send a copy of the transcript of your remarks to the Laflèche brothers?  

     MR. RUBY:  From today. 

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Because they may not be here. 

     MR. RUBY:  Yes.  

     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  Thank you very much. 

     MR. KAISER:  Gentlemen, just while we’re on this, we don't want to prolong this proceeding.  Of course, you have heard our other ruling with respect to Mr. Janigan's motion, the Public Interest Advocacy Group, but I understand you want get back.  Mr. Ruby will get you the transcript, and if you want to reply you can do it in writing, providing it is within two days. 

     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  Within two days?  Can we ask one question?  Will there be another hearing down here in the future again or can we take holidays?
     MR. KAISER:  I expect this is it.  

     MR. BRIAN LAFLÈCHE:  This is it, okay. 

     MR. KAISER:  There is an end to all good things.
     MR. RUBY:  Mr. Chair, if you would prefer I'm quite happy to reply to these intervenor submissions right now if that would speed the process.  I don't have a lot to stay. 

     MR. KAISER:  Well, we can do that.  
     MR. RUBY:  It’s up to you.  
     MR. KAISER:  I'm trying to accommodate the other –- Mr. Sutherland, did you want to proceed before lunch?  

     MR. SUTHERLAND:  Yes.  I would like to proceed with this, this hearing now.  

     MR. KAISER:  Okay. 

     MR. SUTHERLAND:  As I explained.  I didn't hear your question. 

     MR. KAISER:  I just wanted to make sure that, I think the better -- at some point we'll have to break for lunch, but I would like to accommodate Mr. Sutherland. 

     MR. RUBY:  I'm in your hands, Mr. Chair. 

     MR. KAISER:  We will deal with your reply in the usual course.  
     Thank you, gentlemen, we appreciate you coming all this way and putting considerable effort into this.  Mr. Sutherland, do you want to come up?  Why don't you come up front next to Mr. Warren so we can see you.
     MR. SUTHERLAND:  Oh, okay. 

     MR. KAISER:  Just move up to the front row here and sit with the high-priced lawyers.  

    SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SUTHERLAND: 

     MR. SUTHERLAND:  Quite a privilege.  

    
MR. KAISER:  Please proceed.


MR. SUTHERLAND:  Do you wish me to speak now?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. SUTHERLAND:  Thank you.  I would just like to start by saying that I would not presume to tell you people what you can or cannot do, so I will move on to the issues at hand.


One of the things that we've been hearing all day is about the election and how we can wait for another election, but at that point in time, obviously, it will be way too late.


One of the problems I had when this all started was that during the previous election there was no mention of selling Gravenhurst Hydro, and I think if you're going to do something as substantial as that, it should be an election issue where the people would have had a chance to voice their opinion as to whether they wanted the hydro utility sold, or not.


And I have a quote here from December 5th, the inaugural address of Mayor John Klink, in which he stated, and I quote:  

"We are the proud owners of one of Ontario's finest electrical utilities." 


And he voted to sell it just this last March 22nd.  I don't know what made him change his mind, because, as far as I know, the utility is still functioning at a very high level of competency and service to people of Gravenhurst.


I think the fact that five people bid on our utility to try to see if they could buy it, purchase it, or amalgamate, or whatever, with it indicates that it's a pretty good piece of property.  And, of course, the other problem that I basically have is that we have no ideas as to what the other bidders put forward, because that is all under a curtain of confidentiality. 


I have contacted the Town under the Freedom of Information Act.  I got nothing from them.  They sort of stonewalled me for over a month -- actually, six weeks.


I did appeal to the confidentiality board ‑‑ the confidential board, and they have accepted my appeal and are moving forward.  So I may get some information on how this whole transaction was brokered and why the public, the people, did not have an opportunity to assess the other bids.  And I think it is very germane to the whole point that we did not have the opportunity to evaluate these four or five other bids.  We know nothing about them at all, and I don't know how that operates, but it obviously does.


And you, as a board or panel, are going to have to also evaluate this sale, but obviously you do not have any access to these bids, either.  So no one really knows if one of the other bids may have been more beneficial to the people of Gravenhurst.


I think another thing that has taken place is that, in a very compressed time in March, when many people were down south on holidays, and freezing cold weather, that we were able to, within a very short period of time, get over 3,100 citizens of Gravenhurst to sign a petition.  No one spoke out against it.  Many letters went in to the newspapers and all of them were opposing this particular sale.


Now, I know this is a legal issue, but there is great discontent among the people of Gravenhurst.  The only people that supported the sale of our utility were the mayor and three councillors.  Now, there are nine people on council.  The last time I looked at a democratic system, you had to have a majority.  How four people out of nine can decide to sell our utility, which is obviously a top‑notch utility -- they have received awards and everything else.  


I know that legally the council may be able to do these sorts of things, but I also question the fact that since you're just elected to council, that you become an expert on all sorts of issues, including electrical issues, and can decide for everybody in a town that this utility must be sold.


I think that also - I know this is not pertinent, but it is pertinent in its own way - that many of the people, I think about one‑third of the people, who are customers of Gravenhurst Hydro who live out on the lakes, because this is a tourist region, they were not adequately informed.  Many of them are now returning to find out that this utility is on the block, and they are now very, very upset over this particular issue, too.


So it is not a popular thing.  I don't see how four people can possibly decide for all of these other people, just because they were elected to council.  I don't know if that makes them electrically literate enough to make this decision, anyway, but I can't question that, because I don't know any of the inside issues that have taken place.


I just think that we have a viable utility.  I think down the road we would be interested in amalgamating with Lakeland, which includes Bracebridge, Huntsville and other ‑‑ because it is a geographical area.  It would give us the size that we need, but we would be able to evaluate that.  


It would not be a one‑off sale.  We would not just get this chunk of money that then is going to be supposedly invested at some profit to the people of Gravenhurst.  We would have a utility where we would be getting money back from the utility as it moved ahead.  


There is an incredible amount of development just going into Gravenhurst.  I'm not particularly in support of that, but I think the utility is going to benefit and I think the people of Gravenhurst are going to benefit by having this utility at a status quo position at this time.  


I thank you for listening to me.  I hope things work out, but we will see.  Thank you very much for your consideration about us getting out of here, too.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you very much, Mr. Sutherland.  Any other intervenors who wanted to speak before lunch?


MR. ASHFORTH:  I think I would speak better on a full stomach.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  I agree with you.  We'll break now for an hour.  We will come back at 2:30 and hear from remaining parties.  Thank you, Mr. Sutherland.


MR. SUTHERLAND:  Thank you.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 1:24 p.m.

     --- On resuming at 2:30 p.m.  

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  
     Mr. Ashforth, were you going to proceed?  Who was the next speaker on the list?  

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think that's me, sir, we have changed the order a little bit. 

     MR. KAISER:  Oh, all right. 

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Unless you were looking for someone from out of town, and I'm happy to defer.  

     MR. KAISER:  Sir, did you want to proceed next?  Did you wish to proceed next? 
     MR. ASHFORTH:  No, I would prefer to wait if you don't mind.  I'm no hurry. 

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, please proceed, Mr. Sidlofsky.  

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SIDLOFSKY:

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Chair, as I've mentioned today, I am here for the Association of Municipalities of Ontario, I will be referring to it as AMO.  AMO is a non-profit organization representing the municipal order of government throughout Ontario.  

     Currently, its membership is at approximately 400 of 

Ontario's 445 municipalities, representing approximately 99 and a half percent of the provincial population.  AMO's mandate is to support and enhance strong and effective municipal government.  Sorry, sir.  AMO's mandate is to support and enhance strong and effective municipal government in this province.  It promotes the value of the municipal level of government as a vital and essential component of Ontario's and Canada's political systems.  
     Many of the matters covered in AMO's summary have already been addressed by counsel to the applicants in the three proceedings that have been combined for the purposes of today's hearing.  And AMO does not intend to repeat the items covered in its written summary this afternoon.  We also don't intend to repeat the arguments of my friends who have gone before me.  But AMO does support those arguments and adopts them, together with relying on its own submission of July 14th.  

     Sir, maybe I could start with a few things AMO is not here to do.  AMO is not here to expand the scope of this proceeding.  If any party, frankly, is seeking to expand the scope of this proceeding, it's a number of the intervenors that are before you today, including Mr. Warren's clients in seeking to deal with at least two things.  
     First, to contort the objectives of Section 1 of the OEB Act to encompass reviews by the OEB of a municipal council's decisions in areas that are clearly within counsel’s authority; and second, to place the ratepayers and the OEB in a position to turn the decision of a municipal counsel to sell a LDC into a broad, consultative process in which the ratepayers and the OEB will determine not whether a transaction entered into between a municipal owner and a willing purchaser is in the public interest, having regard to the objectives of Section 1, but instead which of a myriad of possible approaches to a LDC, that is hold it, sell it, lease it, amalgamate it, might be preferable for the municipal owner and its residents.  

     Among the other things AMO is not here to do is that AMO is not here to speak to the merits of any of the specific applications.  Finally, AMO is not here to prolong this proceeding.  
     AMO is here to express its concerns as an organization that represents municipalities across Ontario, many of which continue to own their LDCs.  

     AMO is concerned that the OEB may be considering constraining the rights of municipalities to enter into commercial arrangements with respect to the shares of their LDCs.  It's concerned that these constraints will be inconsistent with the authority given to municipal corporations under Section 142 of the Electricity Act, and their counsel's under Section 5 of the Municipal Act, 2001.  
     It's concerned about the creation by the OEB and ratepayer groups of a process whereby utility ratepayers or municipal taxpayers will, effectively, make the decisions with respect to the terms of any deal to sell or merge an LDC and, in fact, with respect to the fundamental decisions of a municipality with respect to holding or selling that LDC.  

     Those decisions are within the statutory authority of the municipal corporation under Section 142 of the Electricity Act.  And under Section 5 of the Municipal Act, 2001 its the municipal council that exercises the powers of the municipality, whether those powers are conferred by the Municipal Act, 2001 or otherwise.  

     Finally, AMO is concerned that this possibility is inconsistent with the manner in which the OEB has conducted its reviews of approximately 100 other applications for approval of the acquisition of LDC shares, thereby creating regulatory uncertainty for the remaining municipal owners of LDCs.  Now, in this last point, Mr. Warren has suggested that the desire for regulatory certainty is bogus.  
      Yes, the OEB has to consider each application on its own merits, but municipal councils are entitled, we submit, to some comfort in knowing that if their transactions are consistent with the Board's objectives, then they will be approved.  And it will not be denied by a tribunal that steps away from its role of reviewing the application put before it and instead decides on an alternative approach for the disposition or non-disposition of the LDC.  

     The parties and prospective parties to MAADs transactions before the Board are entitled to know what the Board's -- what the Board considers its jurisdiction to be.  And, I submit, that it is not bogus to expect that the Board's jurisdiction should not change from application to application.  

     As I've said, AMO's detailed position is set out in the summary of its argument, and I won’t repeat it here.  You've heard the applicants counsels’ detailed arguments on the lack of the Board's jurisdiction to regulate municipalities and municipal processes in deciding to dispose of their LDCs.  But in short, AMO recommends that the OEB confirm, as it has in previous decisions, that its role is not to second-guess the commercial decisions reached by a municipality with respect to the disposition of its local distribution utility.  That the OEB confirm that its role under Section 86 of the OEB Act is to consider the commercial transaction before it and not to treat each application for leave under Section 86 as a starting point for an enquiry as to possible options for the utility, or as an extension of the municipal decision-making process.  

     Third, that the OEB reject this suggestion that the Section 86 application represents an appeal from a decision of the dually elected municipal council.  And finally, that the OEB reject the broadening of the scope of Section 1 of the OEB Act encouraged by Mr. Warren.  

     Sir, I was going to touch on some of the highlights of AMO's written submission.  I am going to leave that aside because the submission is before the Board, and you've heard the arguments of counsel for the applicants.  
     However, there is one thing I did want to focus on, and that is the letter from Mr. Sutherland.  Now, I'm happy to provide Mr. Sutherland with a copy of the transcript, and I expect that the Board will want to give him an opportunity to respond.  But there are items -- there are issues raised in his letter that do merit a response from AMO.  

     Mr. Sutherland's letter, in fact, was the only detailed response to the AMO intervention.  I'm not going to focus on that letter from the context of a response to the intervention request, but rather I would like to look at some of the issues that are raised in that letter.  I trust the Board has it.  

     MR. KAISER:  We have that letter.  Is that B.6?  
     MR. BAUMHARD:  Is it dated July 13th?  
     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That’s right,sir.  

     MR. BAUMHARD:  You can probably find it at tab 19.  

     MR. KAISER:  Is that marked as B.6, or is that something else?  

     MR. BAUMHARD:  Yes, it is B.6.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thanks.  We've got it.  

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  
     Sir, Mr. Sutherland in his letter of July 13th, which opposes AMO's intervention, raises a number of issues. 

     A number of those issues go to the question or the over-arching issue of a municipality’s authority to dispose of its LDC.  
     Now, first I will deal with this very briefly.  Mr. Sutherland argues that Veridian is already represented and that was -- that was the reason he felt for excluding AMO from this process.  Now, as I've already made it clear, AMO is not here today to speak to the merits of any particular application, regardless of the identity of AMO's president.  You will see in the letter that Mr. Sutherland points out that the president of AMO happens to be the regional chair of Durham region.  I would also note that its lower tier municipalities and not the regional municipality that are the shareholders of Veridian, and generally with respect to LDCs.  

     Second, Mr. Sutherland argues that AMO's only intent is to convince the OEB that the public should not be allowed to question the decisions of municipal councils.  Now on this point AMO submits that what is relevant here is the question of whether it is in the OEB's jurisdiction to assume council's role in the fundamental questions of whether to hold or sell a LDC, and what form the transaction, if any, should take.  

A related question is whether LDC ratepayers should be in a position to impose their desired outcome on the OEB and the owner of the utility.  Thus, it is not an issue of residents not being allowed to question the decisions of council, this is fundamentally an issue of what the correct forum for that questioning is.  We submit that it is not the OEB process.


As Mr. Ruby has mentioned, and I believe other friends of mine have as well, decisions and processes of municipal councils may be subject to review by the courts and they will certainly be subject to review by the electorate).  The decision of council to sell an LDC is not subject to OEB review. 


Third, Mr. Sutherland asks how the Ontario Municipal Board would react to the suggestion that the public should not be allowed to question the decision of a municipal council.  Mr. Sutherland notes that the Ontario Municipal Board changes municipal councils' decisions all the time.


The fact is we have some help in this regard and we know how the OEB reacted in the ‑‑ excuse me, the OMB reacted in the context of a sale of an LDC, because the sale of Cornwall's hydro utility pre‑dated the Ontario Energy Board's jurisdiction under the OEB Act.  


I have included at tab 8 of the AMO book of authorities a copy of the Municipal Board's decision on Cornwall.  That was the sale of Cornwall Hydro to consumers.


 Now, in that case, the Municipal Board found that the applicable sections of the Ontario Municipal Board Act did not provide a right of appeal to the ratepayers of a municipality from the actions of the ‑‑ from the actions of the duly elected council; rather, the Board considered what it was authorized to do under the relevant legislation.  


And, in that case - and you will find the extracts from the relevant legislation at tab 5 of AMO's book of authorities - the Municipal Board was empowered to enquire into the nature of the power sought to be exercised, the necessity or expediency of the undertaking, the financial position and obligations of the municipality, the burden of taxation upon the ratepayers and into all other relative matters as may appear necessary or expedient.  That was because it was specifically empowered to do so under its application legislation; that is, the Municipal Act and the Ontario Municipal Board Act.


That was a fairly broad and explicit grant of authority to the Ontario Municipal Board in that case.


Now, in that decision, the Board found that the opponents to the sale of the utility had not satisfied the Board that a public hearing was necessary to address further the statutory mandate that the Board had recited; rather, the Board observed the five individuals in opposition seek to use the Board to take the place of a referendum.  The submissions from the opponents clearly request the Board appoint independent consultants to evaluate the asset and conduct a study of the arguments for and against selling Cornwall Electric and a hearing be convened where all interested parties be given a full opportunity to express their views as to the sale or retention of Cornwall Electric.  


That was the submission of the ratepayer group in that case.  That was Cornwall ratepayers against panic selling.


What the Board observed, though, was that the city had undertaken the review, called for proposals, evaluated the responses, consulted the public and exercised the power to make the decision regarding the disposition of the asset.


You will find these extracts, sir, in the AMO summary of argument, as well.


Accordingly, even where the OMB had fairly broad authority to make enquiries with respect to a proposed course of action on the part of a municipality, it found that that did not constitute a right of appeal for ratepayers.  That's significant, because one of the items in Mr. Sutherland's letter is the suggestion or the submission that there must be a right of appeal.  Well, no, sir, there need not be a right of appeal.  The right of appeal only exists where the statute empowering the administrative tribunal grants that authority.


Now, by contrast, there are certain planning-related matters in which the Ontario Municipal Board has the authority to second guess a municipal body.  In appeals from committee of adjustment decisions, the Ontario Municipal Board has the authority to dismiss the appeal and may make any decision that the committee could have made on the original application.  Similarly, under Section 17 of the Planning Act, as another example, in the case of appeals related to official plans, the Municipal Board may approve all or part of the plan - that is, all or part of an official plan - make modifications to all or part of the plan and approve all or part of the plan as modified as an official plan, or refuse to approve all or part of the plan.


The Ontario Municipal Board is given extensive and explicit authority to substitute its approach to planning for that of the municipality.  AMO submits that by contrast here, the OEB is given no such authority to make the decision a municipality could have made.


Fourth, Mr. Sutherland asks how AMO can suggest that there is not one municipality that has not sold its utility for the wrong reason, or that people with little or no knowledge of investment who sit on councils have not made a poor decision, been unduly influenced or manipulated.  And Mr. Sutherland, before lunch, was adverting to some of those comments, I believe, in his brief submission.


AMO isn't suggesting that these things have never happened.  However, nowhere in its governing legislation is the Ontario Energy Board given the authority to review the municipal council's process, nor does any legislation governing the Board allow it to establish a process for municipalities in considering whether to sell or hold a utility.


In directing municipalities to create -‑ to establish local distribution companies under Section 142, in enabling municipalities to dispose of the shares of those corporations, also under Section 142, the legislature was clearly giving that authority to the municipal council.


Finally, Mr. Sutherland demands an authority to turn to and a means of appeal and an opportunity to seek the protection of the Board.  Ultimately, the residents have recourse through the ballot box or through the courts, and the Municipal Act does require municipal councils to conduct themselves in certain ways.  But that does not create a right of appeal in this Board, where no such appeal is created through the statute that governs the Board.


Sir, since the 1990s, the courts have taken what's been referred to as a broad or purposive or more deferential approach to the interpretation of municipal powers.  Madam Justice MacLaughlin recognized in a dissenting opinion in Shell Canada Products in Vancouver, which is also contained in the AMO book of authorities, an emerging consensus that courts must respect the responsibility of elected municipal bodies to serve the people who elected them and to exercise caution to avoid substituting their views of what is best for the citizens for those of municipal councils.  


This has been cited since that decision, with approval by the courts, and I have given one example of the Equity Waste Management case in the AMO book of authorities.


Accordingly, as was the case in the Municipal Board context, the application for leave under Section 86 of the Act does not constitute an appeal of the council decision, and it is not an opportunity for the OEB to make any decision that the municipal council could have made.


As we've discussed elsewhere in our written summary, the Municipal Board has the power similar to this in certain circumstances, but those circumstances are explicitly set out in the relevant legislation where they're not in respect of the Ontario Energy Board.


Sir, I may have some comments in response to Mr. Warren's submissions, but if you don't mind, I would prefer to leave that until after he makes them.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.  One question.  On this Cornwall case that you've included at tab 8, there the application was made by the city.  And if I'm reading it correctly, they were required to get approval of the OMB if part of the financing terms and contractual terms went beyond the term, the existing ‑‑ the term of the existing council.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct.  There was another provision there, as well, that if they were ‑- having to do with public utilities.


MR. KAISER:  And there were some undertakings, I guess, that had been provided, as part of that transaction, that raised that issue.  Is this section still at law?  Is this still currently in the legislation?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I believe the authority over public utilities has been superseded by the ‑‑ excuse me, the authority over electricity utilities has been taken out of the Public Utilities Act, for example.  And it's been incorporated into the Energy Competition Act and its schedules.  

     MR. KAISER:  What about Section 148 and Section 65?  I mean, are they still there? 

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  In fact, Section 65 is still in.  In fact, I have the extract from Section 65 at tab 5 of the AMO book of authorities.  

     MR. KAISER:  I take it that section wouldn't be operative in any of the three cases before us? 

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well sir, as I said, I'm not here to speak to those particular applications.  But, I would suggest that, if it were, it's a matter for the Municipal Board, and clearly under the Municipal Board's jurisdiction. 

     MR. KAISER:  No, I understand it’s a matter for the Municipal Board, that's not what we're arguing about.  I just want to know whether they’re -- if you know, or perhaps the others can advise me, whether applications to the OMB are anticipated under this section in these cases.  

     Mr. Ruby?  Have you looked at this? 

     MR. RUBY:  I can advise, with respect to 148, that the answer is no.  I will -- with the Board's permission, I have to get back to you with respect to Section 65. 

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  If you could, and if the other applicants could do the same.  

     Does that conclude your submissions, Mr. Sidlofsky? 

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It does, sir.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Sidlofsky, we've heard quite a bit about what Section 86 is not, very little as to what Section 86 is.  Can you help us understand, at least your views, as to what its purpose is?  

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, clearly the -- when Section 86 is read in conjunction with Section 1 - I'm not sure that I’ll be telling the Panel anything that my colleagues here haven't already mentioned - but I think that, when Section 86 is read in conjunction with Section 1 of the OEB Act, the Board has before it a particular application.  The Board's leave is required before the shares can be acquired, using Section 86(2) as the example we're dealing with here.  And the Board has consistently found, or held, that the transaction should be in the public interest in the context of the objectives -- the Board's objectives under Section 1.  

     So when looking at an application and determining whether to -- or, the transaction, and determining whether to give its leave, the Board should be considering whether the transaction will have an adverse affect on price for electricity services.   Will it have an adverse effect on quality, reliability and -- excuse me, I'm just drawing a slight blank on the third criteria under Section 1 -- but quality, reliability and adequacy of electricity service to the ratepayers.  And under the second provision of Section 1, will the transaction result -- or will it jeopardize, in that case, the financial viability of the purchasing party? 

     It's the purchasing party that’s going to act as the distributor for the ratepayers that will still require electricity service.  And, as a number of my colleagues have mentioned, and my friends have mentioned, the only time that there is likely to be an issue there is if the price is so exorbitant that the purchaser runs into financial difficulty in being able to bear the cost of that purchase.  And the only submissions in these three applications before you seem to be that the price has been too low, so that doesn't appear to be a concern.  

     And as my friend, Ms. Newland, mentioned earlier, not just anyone should be able to operate a distribution utility.  So that, when looking at the proposed transaction, it appears it is legitimate for the Board to consider who will be left at the end of the day running that utility.  And that goes directly to the objectives of Section 1, which deal with adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service.  
     So even in that context, in terms of, you know, Is this an appropriate purchaser for this utility?  The Board's consideration flows back to Section 1.  

     I hope that helps. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  I think it does.  Thank you.    

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Tunley?  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. TUNLEY:
     MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Board.  

     Just to begin, because Newmarket Hydro's submission of July 13th did not include reference to case law, I have actually prepared  written points for my -- to follow in my oral argument.  I have circulated that to counsel and parties.  And if it would assist the Board, and if there is no objection, what I would like to do is hand that up just as a road map to later points that I want to cover. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, that will be helpful.   

     MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you very much.  

     If anybody does not have a copy of that and wishes one, I’ll leave the copies here.  

     The other thing, Members of the Board, that I will refer to is my case book, which was handed up during Mr. Bredt's argument - you should have it - with four tabs. 

     MR. KAISER:  We have it. 

     MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

     MR. TUNLEY:  So my arguments will focus on those areas where the legal positions set out in the written materials before you appear to differ among the parties on points that are material to NHL's proposed intervention.  But before I go to those points, I thought it was useful to set out right at the outset some points on which I think all parties are ad idem, because that’s, obviously, a strong place for the Board to begin.  

     And I say that there seems to be common ground before -- in all parties before you on the four points that I've set out.   

     First, that the Board's role is to consider whether a proposed transaction is in the public interest, having regard to the objectives in Section 1 of the OEB Act.  

     The second point that, in considering that issue, the Board is obliged to consider the various interests of electricity consumers and of the electricity industry that are set out in Section 1, the electricity objectives.  

     I think, thirdly, it’s -- there’s no doubt that, under Section 86, your authority as a board to review transactions includes those parties to which municipalities may be parties, as either a seller or an acquirer of the shares of an electricity LDC.  

    And finally, that -- there’s no question of statutory authority here.  The municipalities have authority to enter into these transactions, both as sellers and as purchasers of electricity LDCs.  

     Now, I have also set out, from NHL's perspective, the acknowledgment that this Board, I think, will find it relevant that recent provincial initiatives and policies have indeed encouraged a degree of concentration of ownership and operation of electricity LDCs, including those that are municipally owned.  And I think that is relevant for the Board's purposes.  

     MR. KAISER:  Now, we've heard this assertion before.  Is there any particular document or authority you can point to that establishes that policy?  I think Mr. Bredt --

     MR. TUNLEY:  Yes -- 

     MR. KAISER:  -- said this also.  

     MR. TUNLEY:  -- I believe I have a copy of -- I'm looking, Mr. Chairman, at Ontario Regulation 124 of 1999, which is a regulation under the Electricity Act, 1998.  And I believe -- I’m not sure that I’m familiar enough with it to take you to the nitty-gritty of the provisions, but what it does, I believe, is to create windows where there is a tax incentive for municipalities, in particular, who are selling shares to do so in a more tax-advantageous manner, and I believe that one of those windows is relevant to all three of the applications before the Board today, because it was a window that existed up to ‑‑ and I stand to be corrected, but I'm going to say May 28th, 2005.


MR. KAISER:  The fact that this window has now disappeared and this exemption, as I understood it, has lapsed at the end of March, does that mean the government has changed its policy?  


MR. TUNLEY:  I think for the period of the transactions, that the policy is as described in the regulation, that these three transactions have proceeded in a window created by the government.


MR. KAISER:  So your argument, just so we understand it, is that the Government of Ontario has a policy of encouraging consolidation, and that's evidenced by this special tax treatment that existed up until the end of March?


MR. TUNLEY:  In part by that, yes.  I believe there are other general provisions in the Electricity Act and the electricity competition legislation that was passed at the same time which one could point to that would support the same inference, but this is quite specific and quite relevant, I think, to the three transactions before you.  


So just to move from there, the July 5th procedural order ‑‑ and, Mr. Chair, your remarks this morning clearly have asked the question:  What is the relevance of these two points, purchase price and process, if I can put it that way, to the Board's jurisdiction in dealing with one of these transactions?


In summary, NHL's position is that relevance has to be tested against something that is in the Board's jurisdiction, something under Section 86 and Section 1.  You can't ‑‑ the Board is not interested in purchase price for its own sake or process for its own sake, but if purchase price or process is relevant to one of the Board's legitimate concerns under Section 86 and the objectives under Section 1, then the position of NHL is:  You are not only entitled to get into those areas, but obliged to do so in order to discharge your responsibilities.


I say that because they're not relevant in themselves, they must be relevant to something that the Board is mandated to look into.  And I say that, because NHL has emphasized, in its material, in its intervention, that its interests are founded on an issue that it is squarely within the Board's jurisdiction and interest under Section 1, and that is the issue of electricity supply in the York region.  


And their contention is that in that ‑‑ in EB-2005‑0254, this Board should look at process in that case only because it is relevant to an issue of supply and quality of service, in that sense, within the Board's jurisdiction.  We're not asking you to look into it, as it were, for its own sake, to determine whether the process that was followed in that case met the requirements of the Municipal Act or some other standard that is outside your area of interest.


And in that sense, and really for that reason, I emphasize that NHL's position is you may not be able to answer your question about relevance categorically, yes or no, it is always relevant or never relevant.  You may need to say that it's going to depend on why the issue of purchase price is claimed to be relevant.  And I think some of the submissions you already heard acknowledge that.


If purchase price is so high as to put in jeopardy the future viability of the purchaser, that is of obvious concern to this Board and you would be obliged, in my submission, to look into that.  That's an example that my friends have put forward, and, in my submission, what it means is that you can't necessarily give a categorical "yes or no" answer to the questions as they were posed in the procedural order.


I think what you have to do is say, Is it relevant to an issue, and what is the issue before the Board that's of interest under Section 1 that it is relevant to?  And test each of the interventions on that basis.  


MR. KAISER:  Would you also agree with the argument that the low purchase price is not relevant?


MR. TUNLEY:  That's as set out in paragraph 8.  I think that is correct.  Why would this Board be concerned if a seller, who is getting out of the electricity business, is taking less money away from the electricity business?  I don't want to say never, but I say that may often not be relevant to this Board's consideration.


The other thing that I point out in paragraph 8 is that that is actually reinforced by the wording of subsection 2 of Section 86, which is the share transaction provision, because the focus there is on the purchase.  It prohibits the purchase.  It doesn't prohibit the sale.  


So there is statutory support for focussing on the purchaser, and I believe that is because of the fact that the Board need not be so concerned if the seller is not taking away sufficient money for other purposes, as long as they're not going to continue in the electricity business.


So what I emphasize, really ‑ and this is beginning at paragraph 10 and following in my written outline ‑ NHL's intervention is grounded in not process for its own sake, but in an issue of concern to the Board which arises and is directly raised by the terms of the share purchase agreement in the Aurora application, and that is Section 6.5.


I think Board Members will have seen the intervention material, but I have summarized the thrust of it here.  Essentially, Section 6.5 is a commitment that the departing shareholder has, as it were, imposed on the acquiring party in the share purchase agreement to provide service at 28 KV, three lines, to meet load growth.  And the problem that NHL has identified is that that commitment, which the departing shareholder is extracting as part of this transaction, goes against what has been the joint recommendation of all of the affected utilities in the York region up to 2003, which was a recommendation based on the York region supply study, which is referred to, based on new facilities at 48 KV.


So the problem and the reason for NHL's intervention and the reason that we say, in this case, the process is significant is that the terms that the departing shareholder is imposing on the remaining parties actually, in our submission, threaten at least to prejudge or to preclude or affect the cost impacts of supply options in the York region not only for Aurora itself, which is the utility that's, as it were, changing ownership, but for the neighbouring utilities, as well.  


And it's because our intervention is rooted in an issue that is clearly an issue of concern for the Board and squarely within Section 1 and the electricity objectives, both as to the industry and as to consumers, that we say, in this case, you must examine the process that took us from July 2003, with the supply study unanimously endorsed by the affected utilities, to today, where there appears to be a transaction put forward in which one of those, the parting shareholder, is imposing this new regime with its implications for all.


MR. KAISER:  One of the points you're arguing, I guess, is that when we talk about electricity consumers in Section 1 and adequacy and price, et cetera, it's not just electricity consumers in the jurisdiction that the transaction relates to, but consumers in adjoining jurisdictions; is that right?


MR. TUNLEY:  Certainly the Board's mandate extends to the whole of Ontario, and in the particular circumstances of NHL's intervention, yes.  If the terms of this transaction and the supply options which it seems to be imposing on the merging utilities is going to affect the price of new supply in neighbouring utilities, such as Newmarket Hydro, that is a relevant matter for the Board to be concerned about.


The electricity customers in Newmarket and other regions of -- the York region, are equally of concern and equally need to be considered when you look at a transaction that has these kinds of impacts or potential impacts.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sidlofsky, I have a question, as well.  You talk about -- 

     MR. TUNLEY:  Sorry.  It’s Mr. Tunley. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Oh, sorry, Mr. Tunley. 

     MR. TUNLEY:  That's quite all right. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Tunley, you talk about having a problem with section 6(5) of the Aurora agreement.  

     MR. TUNLEY:  Yes. 

     MS. NOWINA:   And then go on to say that that raises a concern about process.  Why does a problem with the terms of the agreement, or the agreement itself, the transaction itself, which would be examined in the proceeding, why does a problem with that necessarily mean that you need to look at the process that came up with that term? 

     MR. TUNLEY:  Because we have two landmarks in time.  We have, as of July, 2003, all of the utilities, Aurora Hydro, PowerStream, who are now the applicants, and Newmarket Hydro, significantly, jointly supporting supply options that are different from the ones in the share-purchase agreement.  So something happened between July of 2003 and March of 2005 which persuaded those utilities to change their view of how to deal with the supply issues in York Region.  There was a consensus in 2003 and -- what we say in the intervention - and the facts are, obviously, for another day - but there are resolutions of the municipality shareholders opposing the joint recommendations of the July study.  

     And we want to show that this, that we had all utilities and their professional advisors -- electricity advisors, in 2003, ad idem on the solution.  And it was the interests of shareholders, and political pressures that came to bear after that study was released which have led to a transaction which, we say, is a less optimal, more expensive and overall less reliable option for the --nd creates problems for the neighbouring utilities.  

     So you have to see that the process starts with the July consensus -- July, 2003, consensus.  And then something happened along the way to this transaction.  And the problem that Newmarket has is, this Board can't be asked just to shut its eyes to the fact that that study was out there, the fact that all of the parties, including the parties now before the Board seeking approvals, supported those recommendations.  You can't close your eyes to that fact, and to all of the things that have happened in between, to arrive at the transaction that you're asked to review today.  

     MR. KAISER:  So, if I understand your point, at the end of the day, you want to be able to call evidence that says, This transaction is not in the interest of electricity customers in my client's franchise area for the following reasons; and you're concerned that, if the Board made a blanket ruling the process was out of scope, you wouldn't be able to call that evidence? 

     MR. TUNLEY:  I'm going to come to it in a minute, but you’re right on the first part, except I would say it's not in the interests of electricity customers in York region, generally.  

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  

     MR. TUNLEY:  It not only affects my client, it affects Aurora, it affects the other PowerStream customers and others in the region. 

     MR. KAISER:  But the only real reason -- just to deal with Ms.  Nowina's point, the only reason you really care about the ruling on process is you're going to argue I need to go to the process to show that this is a bad decision.  

     MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  And the evidence that will be relevant is, what were the events which caused PowerStream and Aurora Hydro, who had initially agreed, in 2003, with the proposed regional solution, through the interactions with their shareholders, to change their minds and to come now forward to this Board with what we say is a less optimal --
     MR. KAISER:  Yes, I understand.  

     MR. TUNLEY:  So, again, my point is that the question that you've posed in the procedural order as to relevance is, Relevance to what?  Well, we say relevance to the security of supply and adequacy of supply in the York Region.  That's what it’s relevant to.  It's not relevant for its own sake, but it is relevant to an issue which this Board has to be concerned about.  

     Beginning in section C, paragraph 14, I just want to respond, briefly.  One of the suggestions that may be found in some of the written argument summaries is that this Board's jurisdiction to review issues that are relevant to the achievement of its statutory electricity objectives, once they are properly raised, is somehow restricted or constrained because of the statutory authority given to municipal councils.  And that's purely a legal issue, and I have addressed it in my points.  

     First of all, as a practical matter.  This kind of overlap of jurisdiction between two statutory tribunals is, in fact, quite commonplace.  And secondly, as a matter of law, the way the courts have approached this in the past when it has arisen, isn't technical.  They don't put tribunals in kind of watertight compartments and say, You can only go so far.  Rather, they are not unduly restrictive.  And I have given you the leading cases which are, in my submission, the example of that; the Wilder and Ontario Securities Commission cases in my case book, at tabs 1 and 2, the Divisional Court and Court of Appeal decisions. 

     Just very briefly, so that you see the parallels to this situation, Wilder was a lawyer regulated by the Law Society of Upper Canada, but he also practiced representing clients before the Securities Commission.  And, in the course of doing so, you will see, if you turn to tab 1, paragraph 5 on page 364, the Commission became convinced that he had made false statements in letters to them that, in a material respect, affected the trading of securities in his client, which was YBM.  And they brought proceedings against him in respect of what they alleged as conduct contrary to the public interest.  

     If you turn to the next page, 365, you will see that the scheme of the Securities Act in this regard is not dissimilar to the scheme of your Act in Section 86 and section 2 -- sorry, Section 1, the electricity objectives.  You will see on page 365, section 127(1) is the power of the commission to make one or more of the following orders.  And if you go right over the page to the very last one, it’s number 6, it is an order that a person or company be reprimanded.  And that's what the Commission was trying to do in Mr. Wilder’s case, is reprimand him.  

     And you’ll see that, not unlike the position of AMO in this case, the Law Society intervened and said, Wait a minute, you can't reprimand our members.  We are responsible for regulating the legal profession, and we have a rather complicated code of doing that.  And you should -- they first said this statute should be interpreted to exclude the ability to reprimand Mr. Wilder as a lawyer.  
    And the other point, just in paragraph 13, you’ll see that, like your statute Section 1, the Securities Act -- the only guidance as to what subsection (6) of Section 127(1) meant was a purpose provision, in Section 1.1 telling what the purpose of regulation was -- so -- in the Securities Act.  So there’s very close parallels to the kind of statutory situation.  

     And clearly, my point here, is that the court held that the Securities Commission was entitled to proceed, and their reasons for doing so begin at paragraph 19.  The court said this:
“There is nothing inconsistent between the Law Society's role in regulating the legal profession and the Ontario Securities Commission's proposed exercise of jurisdiction in the circumstances of this case.  The Law Society and the Ontario Securities Commission both exercise public interest functions, but the public interest which they seek to protect are not the same...” and so on.  

     And in my submission, that's exactly my argument to you.  As long as your focus is on the public interests of electricity consumers and the electricity industry, pursuant to Section 1 of your Ontario Energy Board Act, and as long as that's the interest that you're pursuing and the relevance that you're considering, the fact that you may be required to get into areas where municipalities are making decisions under other legislation, in and of itself, is no different than a lawyer acting pursuant to the scheme of the Law Society Act.   You are entitled to proceed and the courts won't -- they don't -- if you are embarked on a proper enquiry, and, in the case of the NHL intervention I ask you to -- it’s not for today, but I urge you that you are embarked on a proper enquiry, you don't have to artificially limit the scope of that enquiry just because you get into an area where there is another tribunal acting 

     Now the Court of Appeal -- I’ll just refer you very briefly to tab 2, paragraph 10, at page 526.  The Court of Appeal absolutely upheld the divisional court’s approach and said yes.  So this is the law of Ontario today.  You're not as restricted as some, at least, of the intervention ‑‑ or the written material might suggest.


I just want to -- while I'm on that case, Mr. Rodger in his submissions talked to you a bout drawing a line around the Section 1 objectives as if they sort of come to an end artificially at some point and we've just got to find where that line is.  In my submission, if you look at the Wilder case, that's not the way the courts are looking at it.  


Again, it's rather -- as long as your enquiry is rooted in Section 1, you actually have a wide ambit, and it may well take you into areas that are unfamiliar to you immediately.  But it's not irrelevant and, in my submission, in answering your question as posed, that's the question.


I would also just briefly like to refer you, the scope of the Board's public interest jurisdiction has been addressed, and there is reference to the case in -- at tab 4 of my authorities at page 6.  Tab 4 is a decision of the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board, but at page 6 they quote from the Supreme Court of Canada under the heading 2.2.3 "No Harm Standard".


You will see they quote from a prior decision, which says:  

"The Supreme Court of Canada has stated that the Board's jurisdiction 'to safeguard the public interest in the nature and quality of the service provided to the community by public utilities'..." 


And that's very much the wording of Section 1 in your case:

"... is of the widest proportions."


So the Supreme Court has, in those words, in my submission, said the same thing.  As long as you're embarked on the public interest of safeguarding electricity consumers, then you will have and you will be afforded a scope of enquiry of the widest proportions, in my submission.


The next point at paragraph 18 of my points for reply, really ‑‑ and this is important, as well.  Even if you are completely persuaded by me that you have the authority to consider these issues in this hearing or these hearings, there are arguments before you to say that, no, you should nevertheless not do so as a matter of discretion; that you can and should, in an appropriate case, wait until that issue arises in a more appropriate regulatory process.  And I want to address that, again, in terms of NHL's intervention.


Firstly, a point I make in paragraph 19, and Mr. Bredt has taken you to it, consideration of this option, the Alberta Board has recognized that in some instances it is appropriate not to -- even though you think there may be an issue, it can better be addressed in a later proceeding.  And the Aquila Networks case at tab 3 is a case where it decided to do that.


And Mr. Bredt took you, I think, to the correct page, which is page 12 of that decision.  I think he stopped reading a little before I would have stopped reading.  I think he read down to footnote 12, but in my submission the next sentence after footnote 12 is also important.  


The reason in this case that the Board did not consider it appropriate or in the public interest to endeavour at this stage to address is because it was dealing with matters of ongoing tariff regulation rather than issues of security or integrity, reliability, trust and service.


And I say that because, if you go to the next page, paragraph 13, you will see that what the Board is applying is what it calls a harm test.  In other words, it won't interfere at the stage of the transaction, unless the transaction itself can be seen to harm customers.  


And, really, it's -- in this case, the acquisition was by an experienced, well‑respected, established public utility already under Board regulation.  And if you turn to page 16, you will see that the -- under the heading "Views of the Board", the first paragraph, the very last three lines, they say:

"On this basis, the Board is of the view that Fortis Alberta's acquisition of ANCA should not have any significant immediate or near term effect on the cost of service to ANCA's customers or on ANCA's ability to deliver safe and reliable distribution wire service."


Now, as long as that is the case, no immediate or near term effect, that's -- in my submission, that is when the Board is here ‑‑ and it's matters of rate regulation.  That's when it's been the decision of the Alberta Board to defer to a later process.  


But I have also given you the second decision, last in my case book, which is tab 4, in the ATCO Electric and ATCO Gas case.  This was a case where the transaction did raise issues with respect to the continuity of safe and reliable service, and the Board in this case decided that those issues should not be deferred where they're properly raised.  And I would ask you to go to page 22 of that decision.


Again, this is applying the same harm test to a proposed transaction, very much of the kind that this Board is faced with, and it's in the first paragraph under "Views of the Board".  I will read from the beginning:

"The Board considers that one of the factors that the Board must determine in approving the transfer of a regulated business is whether the new entity can continue to provide safe and reliable service to customers.  ATCO has noted that each of ATCO Gas, ATCO Electric and DRS will remain regulated entities and that the Board can address matters related to service quality through other forums.  While that is true, the Board would also like to avoid the creation of service problems that may result from the transfer of one entity to another."


And when you read through what the Board does in this case, you see that they did anticipate that this particular transaction would cause or could, in the near term, cause reliability problems.  And at paragraph 70 and 71, I've referred you -- there is a list of conditions that the Board imposed as part of its approval of the transaction.  Not waiting for another regulatory process, but actually imposing conditions which ensured that that process was initiated, directed the parties as to how and in what time frame they were to participate in that process, and effectively ensured that the issue raised by the proposed transaction would be accommodated in that way.


MR. KAISER:  Don't we have an additional wrinkle here?  Isn't Mr. Bredt arguing that another agency is seized of this; namely, the OPA?


MR. TUNLEY:  Well --


MR. KAISER:  It's not just a question of dealing with it now or dealing with it later.  There is an additional wrinkle in the facts of your case, isn't there?


MR. TUNLEY:  Well, I mean, is there another process to deal with it?  And my concerns, Mr. Chairman, are two‑fold.


MR. KAISER:  Well, here is my question:  Does it matter to your argument whether that other process is a process that we would have, or whether that other process is a process within the jurisdiction of some other board?  Does it matter to your argument?


MR. TUNLEY:  I submit it matters that this Board has the responsibility to ensure that the objectives in Section 1 are met.  If you can be assured ‑‑ and I think my friend, Mr. Bredt, has the onus of satisfying you that there is another process that will bring that issue to conclusion to your satisfaction as a Board and not on someone else's timetable and at someone else's ‑‑ using someone else's criteria.


So I put it that way.  Mr. Bredt has to satisfy you that this is not the place to deal with the issue.  And I say that, because if the problem is there are parties that may be interested who are not before the Board and they're regulated parties, this Board can, by direction, bring them involved and get them involved and have the issue addressed in that way.


If there's evidence that could be called in another process, well, it can be called in this process, too, if ‑‑ once the Board decides that this is an appropriate process.  


And as I point out, Mr. Chairman, in paragraph 22, one of the reasons we say that this is the right process to do it -- there's two reasons, really.   One is that there’s a provision in the share purchase agreement, which you are being asked to approve today, which we say prejudices the future process, and so that's a concern.  

     And then, secondly, there is a concern with the adequacy of the existing processes, other than this one, of really bringing that issue to conclusion in a timely way.  And I have tried to set out why.

     I think that this is the point where I would like to respond -- you asked a question, Mr. Chairman, about moving beyond Section 86(2).  What about -- does it make a difference if the parties are also seeking relief under 86(1)(c) and, indeed, amalgamating, and needing re-licensing under Section 60?   And I would like to respond to that, because I think it’s very relevant to the question of what is the best process.  

     And my answer is this:  As I've said, the issue we raise arises from the share purchase agreement.  It's right here and now, so you can't really get away from it.  

     Secondly, I say, whatever of those sections you are considering, the substantive scope that the Board has -- the interests that the Board is going to look at under Section 60 or under Section 86(2) are the same.  They are the objectives in Section 1 of the Act.  And that's going to define the scope of relevance and enquiry that you have.  

     What's important, though, in those cases before you which do raise Section 60, in my submission, is that this Board has very much broader remedial power than it might have if the application is solely a share transfer under 82(6).  You have the authority and the power to look at conditions of license, and to consider whether all of those range of options that arise under Section 60 can be brought to bear to solve the issues that may be identified by the intervenors in a case of this kind.  

     So, I say, I don't believe you will look at Section 60 and conclude that it broadens the scope of your areas of enquiry.  You may, but, certainly I believe you will look at that section and say, We have the tools in this process, where Section 60 is raised and is before us, we have the tools to address these issues of security of supply that are, in my submission, better tools than you can expect to see brought to bear in the OPA process, or in a process involving just the Distribution System Code or the electricity distribution rate handle.  

     So that's how I would answer the question that you posed.  This is actually a better process.

     MR. KAISER:  Surely, an approval pursuant to Section 86, surely, that order could contain conditions, as well, not unlike the Section 60 conditions?
     MR. TUNLEY:  I think it could, yes, if it were to address issues that are properly raised under Section 1.  I think that’s right.  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  

     MR. TUNLEY:  But I believe the scope and the nature of those conditions may be somewhat broader under those other sections, I think that’s what I'm saying.  

     Just in summary, then.  We say the transaction that's put before you can't be approved in its current form, because it includes terms which we say threaten to cause problems in the immediate short term.  

     And, as I’ve said in paragraph 25, if the intent of the parties, Powerstream and Aurora Hydro, is that all of the decisions on supply options are to be reserved and not pre-judged in any way, but reserved to another proper process, then we say section 6.5 of the share purchase agreement is unnecessary.  It shouldn't be there.  And if it wasn't there, you know, we wouldn't be here.  

     So, if the intent is to have another process, let's, by all means, -- a better process -- let's have another, better process.  But what we can't do is approve the transaction with section 6.5 in it, and then take a wait-and-see as to whether or not there is a future process to address the issues of supply in York Region.  

     MR. KAISER:  And you said in that regard that section 6.5 would prejudice you in any proceedings before the OPA.  Did I understand that? 

     MR. TUNLEY:  Well, if this Board approves section 6.5 and the supply option that it contains, then that leaves the parties who are proposing that transaction free to go to the OPA and say, Here, we've got a solution, it's section 6.5 and the Board thinks it is just fine.  And the problem we have with that -- 

     MR. KAISER:  So you're concerned the OPA might read into the approval of the transaction, the approval of 6.5 as the solution to the supply problem? 

     MR. TUNLEY:  Why else is section 6.5 --

     MR. KAISER:  No, I’m just -- 

     MR. TUNLEY:  --  in the share purchase agreement? 

     MR. KAISER:  I'm just trying to understand your position.  

     MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  Sorry.  Yes is the answer to your question.  If that’s not what they're seeking, why is it in there? 

     MR. KAISER:  Now, in 25 words or less, can you tell us what the OPA process is, as you understand it.  

     MR. TUNLEY:  I think, perhaps, I would ask Mr. Ferguson to explain it - he's much more familiar with it than I am - in 25 words or less.  

     MR. FERGUSON:  I don't believe it's a process.  It's a planning process, an iterative planning process, with public consultation.  So, in terms of a documented process such as a MAADs application review with a formal application and a formal set of steps to go through to arrive at a decision, or a conclusion, I don't believe that exists at this time.  

     MR. KAISER:  And did I understand somebody to say that the OPA was going to issue a report that would then come back to the OEB? 

     MR. FERGUSON:  I understand that, but again, that's strictly conjecture on my part, Mr. Chairman.  I am not clear on what the final OPA deliverable to the OEB is, at this time.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, very much.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Tunley, I am not entirely clear as to what is the - if I can call it - the “relief” that you’re seeking.  I'm not sure that's a proper term, because you're not the applicant -- or, what is your recommendation in this specific oral proceeding, versus what may happen in another proceeding that will come down after this?  I'm just not sure.  I can't put my arms around it as to exactly what you want this Panel, this Panel today --

     MR. TUNLEY:  This Panel in this hearing to say?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  

     MR. TUNLEY:  Well, I think it goes to my opening suggestions to you about the two questions that you have posed are, Are the two issues of price and process relevant?  What I say this Panel should answer is that they are relevant only if -- not if they are raised for their own sake, but only if they are relevant to an issue of customer service or system integrity, within the Board's objectives in Section 1.  That is what I am recommending this Panel decide today.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  That helps.  Thank you, sir.  

     MR. KAISER:  Ms. Aldred are you next? 

     MS. ALDRED:  Yes, I am, Mr. Chairman.  I'm going to be very brief.  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MS. ALDRED:

     MS. ALDRED:  Hydro One is not really taking a position on the facts of any of these applications, we are just interested in the generic principles.  And having listened to my friends present argument all today, I think it’s been -- both sides have been very well argued.  

     Hydro One supports the position taken by the applicants in this procedure as to the jurisdiction of the Board in Section 86 applications.  And we adopt those positions, and also would like to commend to you our written submission.  

     Thank you. 

     MR. KAISER:   Thank you.  

     Mr. Warren?

     MR. WARREN:  Chairman, I'm wondering, in the light of the hour of the day, if Mr. Ashforth should be given the option, if he wants, to precede me, since he’s from out-of-town. 

     MR. KAISER:  Of course.  Yes.

     MR. ASHFORTH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Board.   

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ASHFORTH: 

     MR. ASHFORTH:  First of all, I’m going to -- my submission here is oral, but it's written,  and I tend mostly to read through it, because I really trust my legibility a lot more than I trust my memory, and I don't want to forget any points that I think are very valid.  

     My name is Ross Ashforth, and I was treasurer for the Town of Gravenhurst from 1972 until retirement in 1987.  That's a period of 15 years.  

     I've been a house-owner and a satisfied customer of Gravenhurst Hydro since 1974, until presently.  I am one of 6,000 satisfied customers of Ontario -- of Gravenhurst Hydro.  

     On April 30th, I forwarded to the OEB my first submission, as a citizen, of my objections to the sale of Veridian, and requested status as an intervenor, which was granted.  Further to the OEB Procedural Order No. 1, dated June 21, '05, I submitted my objections to the sale in considerably more detail, and this my oral submission will really supplement my two written submissions.


This submission will deal mainly with five points, and I will enumerate them:  One, the role, as I perceive it, of Borden Ladner Gervais as solicitors and consultants to the Town of Gravenhurst and the Gravenhurst Hydro board.


My second, and this is very important, is the adequacy of the purchase price offered by Veridian Connections Inc.  My third item are options other than the disposal by sale of Veridian ‑‑ or sale to Veridian.  Four, further objections to the sale to Veridian; and, five, recommendations to the OEB.


My first consideration here is the role of Borden Ladner Gervais, and I am doing this because I think it is very important to the background of what council was thinking at the time and what the citizens were likely to draw in its conclusions.  And, therefore, I consider that something that I would like to bring up, because it has certainly influenced a lot of my thinking in this whole matter.


In my 15 years as town treasurer, the weaknesses of many councils became obvious.  Lack of expertise in complicated matters was one, and reliance on consultants was necessary.  This issue, this hydro issue as a total thing, is a very complicated one, legally and technically.


As you know, the province for many years has been pursuing a policy of consolidating small municipal hydro operations into larger ones, in the interests of economy of size, by the process of sales and/or amalgamations.


To assist these conversions, the province instituted a contrived ‑ and I say "contrived" - sales tax on such sales or amalgamations and provided windows of opportunity to avoid the tax.  Such a window existed April 30th, '05.


Our council dutifully called for sales tenders - though that may not be the correct term, but, anyway - and accepted a bid from Veridian just prior to this date, a decision dictated by haste.


In the background was, of course, the orchestrator, Borden Ladner Gervais.  The contrived provincial deadline - and, of course, there will be more as we still have about 90 small municipalities to succumb to either sale or amalgamations, and this has already happened, I think, to about 300 - to avoid the sales tax.  


So I asked myself, Why was the hurry?  Why do we have to rush into this, this very important decision?


I will speak from this point on less of Gravenhurst council and more of Borden Ladner Gervais, the orchestrator.  The clandestine approach advised by BLG was obvious to discerning citizens and has been covered by other intervenors, including myself, and will not be dwelled upon by me.  Be it sufficient for me to say I have yet to meet one Gravenhurst customer of Gravenhurst Hydro to be in favour of the sale to Veridian, not one.


The two public meetings conducted by BLG were sales oriented, producing no concrete arguments against the sale to Veridian, meetings conducted by very smooth-talking representatives of BLG to promote the sale.  By the time of the meetings, council had already been persuaded by BLG to dispose of the utility, and the meetings were meant to justify to the public a fait accompli decision.  Council had already made up its mind.


That BLG counsel for AMO should engage them as intervenor at this last moment did not surprise me.  BLG knew they had a major problem on their hands and brought in the big guns at the last moment.  AMO has basically a mandate to protect the rights of municipal councils but, more importantly, the rights of their citizens.


In all my years in Gravenhurst, there has never been as important an issue as the possible sale or amalgamation of its hydro utility.  An issue of this magnitude should have been either a question on the ballot or as a plebiscite.  How was the issue decided?  By a vote of four in favour, the mayor and three councillors.


I wonder, how could four Gravenhurst citizens decide an issue of this magnitude with no public support and no information given to the public?


But, it doesn't.  Again, BLG was pulling the strings, as its counsel.  BLG is an orchestrator.  In my opinion, BLG first put forward its expertise in hydro sales and amalgamation, which seduces naive councils, such as Gravenhurst, and, in effect, after employment become totally their orchestrator.  


This has happened here, and this takes me to my next point and this is, to me, a very important point, and it is the adequacy of the consideration to be paid by Veridian.


In discussing with fellow citizens and objecting intervenors, the publicly-touted sales figure of 12,350,000 was, by inference, assumed to be unencumbered by all the citizens.  As an ex-treasurer, I took it upon myself to explore this figure further.  No one else seems to have done this.


What did I find?  My written submission revealed encumbrances of 5,985,500, nearly 6 million, and that is approximately half the price that -- or the sales figure of 12,350,000.


What did this 5,985,500 represent?  Historically, debenture debt of the PUC, as it was known then, and then Gravenhurst Hydro, had to be done through the town, with the PUC and the Gravenhurst Hydro reimbursing the town for the debt expenditure.  This was never a cost to the town.


Principal plus interest will amount to 5,580,800, and a direct debt to the town amounts to 395,700, to bring us to the total of nearly $6 million.  This leaves a net unencumbered consideration to the town of only 6,364,500, a far cry from 12 million.  


What is Veridian acquiring for this 5,364,500?  A book value, less accumulated depreciation of fixed assets, amounts to 9,346,400.


We all know that historical cost is much less than present day values.  Even on depreciated historical costs, the net sales price of 6,364,500 is exceptionally low.  Now, of much greater importance is the current replacement cost, less depreciation.  And this is the way I would personally sell my assets.  I would want to know what I put into them and what they are now valued at and whether there is depreciation, if any.


This calculation was never attempted, never.  After discussion with others far more knowledgeable than I, the net consideration of 6,364,500 should have been multiplied a number of times over.  Even after hydro debenture debt repayments, the consolidated net income of Gravenhurst Power Inc., in 2003 and 2004, were 725,900 and 494,900, respectively.  Retained earnings as at December 31, '04 were 1,420,900.


Veridian would be acquiring a very profitable operation, the profits from which will never accrue to the town, as it would have no equity in Veridian et al - that's "et al", not "at all" - and, ipso facto, no say in its management.  And this bothers me greatly.

The Gravenhurst Hydro Electric Inc. capital budget for each of the years 2005 to 2007 shows net capital additions, after developer, et cetera, contributions and government grants of 1,010,300.  The Veridian proposal shows capital expenditures of 1,155,000 for each of the next five years, but no estimates for deductions for contributions from developers, et cetera or for government grants. 
     After the fifth year, there is no undertaking on their part for capital cost expenditures.  The uncertainty of future capital asset expenditures concerns me, as Gravenhurst, without equity in Veridian, has no say in these matters.  

     We go on to my third point, which is other options to the sales to Veridian. 

     About five years ago, Gravenhurst, Bracebridge and Huntsville pursued an amalgamation of their respective hydro utilities.  Apparently, the then Gravenhurst council, led by the then mayor, opted out of the proposed union, the mayor particularly favouring a union with Hydro One, which never materialized.  

     An amalgamation with our Muskoka neighbours to the north, sharing the same topographical, demographic and cottage environment, coupled with the easier deployment of equipment in the case of emergencies - and there are always many emergencies - should have dictated a union including Gravenhurst.  Comments made to me state that the Bracebridge/Huntsville amalgamation, which has now been increased by the inclusion of Burnt River, has been highly successful with each participating in the profits of the combined operation.  

     Gravenhurst’s large neighbour to the west, the Township of Muskoka Lakes, wherein I have been a cottager since the 1950s, employed Ontario Hydro, and now by succession Hydro One, as its hydro provider.  No complaints here.  Muskoka Lakes has never had a locally-owned hydro provider, as there are no urban communities within the township of any great size to have warranted a locally-owned utility, unlike the more urbanized municipalities of 

Gravenhurst, Bracebridge and Huntsville.  Our history of relative independence from Ontario Hydro and laterally from Hydro One must be preserved.  

     My fourth item is, further objections to the sale to 

Veridian.  As referred to briefly above, a major objection to the acquisition of the shares of Gravenhurst Power Inc. by Veridian, - or shall we say, I get these two companies mixed up.  One is the parent company, but I think it should be Gravenhurst Hydro – is that there would be no equity by Gravenhurst in Veridian et al.  As noted above, Gravenhurst Electric is a highly profitable organization, with combined profits in the two years, 2003 and 2004 of 1,220,800.  

     By selling off its fixed assets for an immediate cash grab - and I emphasize cash grab - denies it for all time an equity in and a share in the profits of Veridian.  For a net cash gain of only 6,364,500, recited earlier, I am astounded that my council could accept the Veridian bid.  
     I can only assume that the continuing provincial windows of opportunity in the contrived provincial sales tax on such sales ending April 30th, 2005 pushed the council to a hasty and ill-considered decision.  No doubt, the orchestrators, Borden Ladner Gervais, wish to preclude this in total a very lengthy and costly procedure to the town.  

     A further major objection to the sale has been the almost clandestine manner in which the disposal was performed.  And over my many years, fifteen years with council, sitting in on all their meetings this became very apparent to me in the two meetings, the two meetings that I attended that council had.  No doubt the lawyers will find legal loop holes to dispose of this objection.  

     As cited earlier, the public meetings were little else than promoting the sale as a fact acompli.  No information was allowed to be given to the public on request respecting the accepted bid of Veridian, other than the much touted sales figure of 12,300,000, which as I mentioned was not the true sales figure.  

     An insert in the local press by the town treasurer in respect to the hypothetical investment return of 5.5 percent on the investment of 12,350,000 has been covered by me in my written submission of June 29th.  

     Another objection to the sale to Veridian is that the board of directors of Gravenhurst Hydro had unanimously advised the council of the Town of Gravenhurst not to accept the bid of Veridian.  I know that the board had a vested interest in remaining as a board, but that aside, I respect its decision to recommend to the council rejection of the Veridian bid.  But what really disturbs me is that the Town has enjoined the Board as an applicant to approve the sale to Veridian.  

     Since the Town of Gravenhurst is the only shareholder of Gravenhurst Power, the board had no choice but to acquiesce to the Town's wishes in becoming an applicant.  

     Five, my recommendations to the OEB board:  One, to 

unequivocally have set aside the Veridian offer.  Two, in light of the province's desire - of which I concur - to reduce the small number of utilities to have the Town of Gravenhurst pursue, again, an amalgamation with Lakeland Power Distribution Limited, Bracebridge, Huntsville et al in which it would have an equity to participate in net profits from a regional operation with identical topographical problems and ready deployment of equipment.  

     Then my second, there is an and/or that follows, so this one is another option.  That the Town retain ownership of Gravenhurst Power Inc. until it decides to pursue other options.  There is no hurry.  Gravenhurst Hydro in its capital budget is well aware of the capital projects confronting it as evidenced by its projected capital budget referred to earlier.  

     Gravenhurst Hydro is better able to cope with these future capital asset construction problems than any other group at this moment in time.  

     In conclusion, you will have noted no reference in my submission to the statutes and regulations.  I am not a lawyer with these at my disposal.  My arguments are those of the layman, like 90 percent of my fellow citizens which embodies plain common sense, easily understandable by that 95 percent.  

     I hope the Board, in making its decision will abide by the law, but a law tempered by common sense.  And that's respectfully submitted.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Ashworth.  You referred to the capital expenditure plans currently in place at Gravenhurst as well as those planned by Veridian.  And I have heard you to say that Veridian was anticipating on spending considerably more.  Did I get that right?
     MR. ASHFORTH:  Over a five year period, only a five year period, a little bit more.  Not considerably, a little bit more.  But that "more" did not include deductions for any grants that might be received that the Town -- that we get, the grants, and any proceeds from developers which are subtracted from. 

     So the figures I was telling you for our corporation was net capital expenditure anticipated over the next three years.  So the amount that would be paid subsequently by Veridian would have to be less if they were going to be deducting the same government grants and developer fees.  And also Veridian would terminate in five years, whereas, of course, if the Town continues ownership or went into some sort of amalgamation, it would have much more control over its capital expenditures beyond the three years 

     MR. KAISER:  I think I understood that.  What I was trying to determine though is whether that translated to a concern on your part, either into liability or with respect to rates. 

     MR. ASHFORTH:  It's concerned as to reliability as to what would happen in the way of development, by the way of 

construction of capital assets, the purchase.  Because Gravenhurst no longer would have any equity in the corporation, it doesn't sit on its board.  It wouldn't have the representation as it would in an amalgamation with our northern neighbours.  This does concern me, yes.  I think that if we were in an amalgamated position that we would be in much better control as a single municipality in what the amalgamated corporation did in capital expenditure for the entire area.  That's why I brought this in.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Questions?  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Just to follow up on that.  What's the incentive for the new owner not to spend money when they can recover -- they can make a return on that investment?  

     MR. ASHFORTH:  I don't know how they calculated the 12,350,000. Maybe I'm not following you.


MR. VLAHOS:  I guess my question is:  Are you concerned that with the changeover, that the priorities of Gravenhurst would be ‑- it would be lesser from Veridian's point of view?  Is that the concern, and they were not going to be spending any money to upkeep the system?


MR. ASHFORTH:  I think there would be less spent, because if they were part of an amalgamation, they would be participating in the capital budget processes of the three municipalities combined, whereas with Veridian, this would not be a process that they would enter into as part of management.


There would be the perceived needs there and the developers would make their approaches, yes, and Veridian would have to listen.  I just question, myself, whether there would be more immediate service if they were a part of an amalgamated municipal corporation.  People work much better to their advantage in the capital expenditure area.


MR. VLAHOS:  So I'm not sure what your response was to the Chair about whether there was a physical degradation concern from your part with the sale, or it's simply there would be no economic injection, I guess, into the area, so that all those plans by developers would materialize.  I'm just not sure which one it is.


MR. ASHFORTH:  There will be the injection into, if -- being part of Veridian, there would have to be injection of capital funding from developers.  This would have to come in and be accepted and -- but, you know, we're getting into an area that I am not that close to.  I never was that close to it, and I just abstracted these figures from the statements that were prepared by Gravenhurst Hydro on their budget for the next three years, but I did come to the conclusion that it would not be to their long‑term advantage, capital wise, to participate with Veridian.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.


MR. ASHFORTH:  I don't know whether I answered that very well.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm going to read the record, sir.


MR. ASHFORTH:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, would it be convenient if we took a short break before proceeding with your argument?


MR. WARREN:  Fine, sir.  Fine with me.


MR. KAISER:  We will take fifteen minutes.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 4:00 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 4:25 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Warren?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I am slightly intimidated.  Everybody has been waiting for my submissions with breathless anticipation like angry cats on it, so...


The Board has my written submissions, Mr. Chairman.  I don't propose to repeat those submissions.  And as I understand what you said earlier, there will be an opportunity to respond, so I don't intend to respond to all of the points that have been raised by my friends, except as they may, this afternoon, illustrate points that I want to make in my submissions.


Where I would like to begin, Mr. Chairman, is, in a sense, at the end, and it's responsive to a question which Mr. Vlahos asked of my friend, Mr. Tunley, which is:  What is the relief which is being sought?


Mr. Tunley said - and I am sure he will correct me if I don't get it correctly - Mr. Tunley says that in the context of this proceeding today, the relief he wants is a determination ‑ these are my words, not his - determination that price and process are relevant only if they relate to one of the issues set out in Section 1 of the OEB Act.


I want to enlarge on that, because the relief that my clients have sought from the beginning in this case was really very modest.  They wanted an oral hearing of the application in order to determine, in order to flesh out, if you wish, a prima facie case that there were issues relevant to the Board's Section 1 jurisdiction that the Board should act on in exercising its jurisdiction under Section 86.


As Mr. Tunley said, and as I have said in my submission, the foundation principle is that every single case under Section 86 has to be decided on its own facts and its own merits, and the danger for you here today, which all of my friends opposite have been seductively inviting you to plunge into, is to set up rules in advance which will preclude you from considering, among other cases, the Gravenhurst case on its facts and on its merits.


Now, the difficulty which we have had as a practical matter, from the beginning, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel, is that the record in the Gravenhurst case consists of the submissions that have been made, the evidence that was filed by Gravenhurst and Veridian, untested under cross‑examination.  There had been submissions made by various parties about relevant issues, but there is no evidence from the intervenors.


The difficulty then for the intervenors is that ‑‑ and I submit, with respect, it's a material disadvantage that we don't know what all of the facts are, because they have not been tested in cross‑examination, and there's been no opportunity to lead evidence into response.  


And I will take you, later in my submissions, to various portions of Mr. Rodger's argument and Ms. Newland's argument in which she seeks to ‑‑ they seek to persuade you of positions in this case on the basis of evidence which they filed ‑- it's not even evidence yet -- material which they filed which hasn't been tested.


I say, with respect, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel, that the material disadvantage accrues to you, as well as to the intervenors.  You are being asked to exercise your jurisdiction under Section 86 on the basis of one version of the events, only.  And that's the risk which you face.


So the challenge for all of us in this room today is to strike the appropriate balance of when it is the Board should decide that it should exercise its jurisdiction, in the first instance, just to have a contested hearing.  We believe, we submit with respect, that there is prima facie evidence that an issue under Section 86 has been triggered, and I will get to that in a moment.  But the larger relief which we sought is the opportunity to make our case and, correspondingly, put the obligation on Veridian and Gravenhurst to make their case.


Now, I have cited the -- as has my friend, Mr. Ruby, the statement in the Supreme Court of Canada - I took it from the Rizzo Shoes case - that the obligation in statutory interpretation is to seek the purpose of the legislation and to interpret it within its large context.  


So I asked the question rhetorically:  Why would the legislature maintain a special protection for the interests of consumers?


Section 142 grants to the utilities ‑‑ sorry, to the municipalities the right to sell their utilities.  It's subject to your regulatory supervision, Section 86.  But aside from that narrow context, you have the legislative obligation you must have regard to the protection of the consumers.  


And why is that?  I say, with respect, it's because this is a monopoly business which is essential to our ability to live.  None of us can live without electricity service, and that is an overriding jurisdiction, an overriding concern which the legislature has said this Board must have regard to.


Now I'm going to jump ahead somewhat to ask a fulcrum question which, again, Mr. Vlahos asked.  What's the test at the end of the day which the Board has to apply?


There are two possible variations on it.  One of them, which was posited by my friend, Mr. Sidlofsky, and which was cited in one of the authorities that was raised, introduced by Mr. Tunley, is the "no harm to ratepayers" test; that is, that a transaction, the result of the transaction, can be that ratepayers are no worse off with respect to prices and the quality of service under Section 1.  That's one narrow definition of it.


I say, with respect, that the test is somewhat broader than that, and that is:  Does the transaction ‑‑ is the transaction the optimum one, the best one for ratepayers?  But regardless of whether you prefer the narrow test, the no harm test, or you prefer  my version of it - which is, is this the best deal? - I don't mean that in a commercial sense, because one of the options is to retain the utility.  Regardless of whether you take the narrow test or the broader test, one of the things you have to look at is the options that were considered.  

     This Board cannot answer either of those questions, in my respectful submission, without looking at the alternatives.  And in -- a corollary of looking at the alternatives is to look at the process by which those alternatives were considered.  Was the process defective or flawed?  Was it based on incomplete information?  And so, in that respect, process is relevant.  

     Now, in our particular case, thanks to the superb work which Mr. Ashforth has done, there is prima facie evidence that retaining the status quo might be better off.  And what that does, is it triggers an enquiry into whether or not this option is really the “no harm” to ratepayers, or whether or not some other option would have been better.  

     I say, with respect, that Section 86, combined with --sorry, Section 1, allows the Board to make that enquiry.  So that Section 86 is broader than what my friends would have you believe, which is simply to look at whatever is filed with the applicants and say, Looks, on the surface, as though nobody is worse off.  If a prima facie case has been made, the Board is entitled to make the broader enquiry.  

     Now, let me turn to the public policy considerations, which seemed to so vex Mr. Sidlofsky and my friend, Mr. Bredt.  What Mr. Sidlofsky and, I say, also, Mr. Rodger said, is that if the Board embarks on the enquiry which, I say, you have the jurisdiction to do, it will result in Mr. Sidlofsky's somewhat colourful phrase of turning the decision into a “broad, consultative process”.  Well, I say, with the greatest of respect, that’s simply not true.   

     This Board has a very narrow jurisdiction under Section 86.   Subsection 86(6) says that an application for leave under this section shall be made to the Board, which shall grant or refuse leave.  The Board doesn't go tip-toeing through the various options and say, You know, you have to take this option.  It simply says, You can't get leave, and then it goes back to the municipality. 

     And it goes back to the municipality with the implicit direction from this Board to do a better job in considering the options.  The freedom still remains with the municipality, acting the way that it thinks is appropriate.  It simply has to consider, and at the end of the day justify to the Board, the option which it’s chosen.  

     The other interim argument which is raised, is that if the Board -- it's really an astonishing argument.  If the Board were to do what it does every single day in the gas and electricity sector, which is to hold an oral hearing, it would create this prospect of regulatory uncertainty.  And I say, with the greatest of respect, no.  Because what the Board would be doing is saying that, in the appropriate case, the Board will look at whether or not all of the relevant options were considered, and this is either a no-harm result for the ratepayers or the best deal of the options that were available.  

     And it sends a signal -- I mean, first of all, in terms of regulatory uncertainty, everybody already knows that there is not an unfettered discretion in the municipalities to sell the assets.  Everybody already knows that.  But all this Board would be doing in embarking on that exercise would be saying to municipalities, This is what our protection-of-consumers jurisdiction consists of, which is to say, we're going to look at all of the evidence and consider whether or not, either no harm or the best option available.  

     Mr. Chairman, as I say, I've made my written submissions.   They're in there.  I will review the transcript tonight.  But in my respectful submission, the Board does have the jurisdiction under Section 86 to consider whether or not the option arrived at -- the selection is either no harm to ratepayers, or is the best deal.  

     And in the course of doing so, this Board should not decide in advance, before hearing all of the evidence, that it's precluded from looking at process or precluded from looking at price.  In an uncharacteristic burst of modesty, I’ll say I cannot imagine all of the possible fact situations that would give rise to your ability to look at those things.  I will say, with respect, that since every case has to be decided on its merits, the Board can, in the appropriate circumstances, look at those things. 

     Those are my submissions.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, a couple of questions.  Is there a burden-of-proof issue in these applications, in your judgment? 

     MR. WARREN:  I think the initial burden of proof, Mr.  Kaiser, lies on the applicants, to satisfy you either on the no-harm test or on the broader test, which I have articulated.  

     I think the evidentiary burden shifts to the intervenors to establish a prima facie case that there ought to be an oral hearing to examine this.  However, I add this caution, that the intervenors are in a very difficult position.  They don't always have somebody of the quality of Mr. Ashforth who can look at the financials and say there is a question that needs to be answered.   But, in answer to your question, the initial burden and the final burden lies on the applicants to prove their case.  There is a shift in the evidentiary burden, in the early stages, on the intervenors to establish a prima facie case that the Board ought to have an oral hearing.  

     MR. KAISER:  I want to come back to the no-harm versus the broader test in a minute, but just dealing with this request for an oral hearing.  Your position, as I understand it - I'm going to ask Mr. Tunley next - but your position is, we can't test the evidence without an oral hearing.  

     MR. WARREN:  I use the word in the expansive sense, sir.  We, the intervenors, can't test it, and the Board can't test it. 

     MR. KAISER:  No, I understand. 

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I say that you can't test it. 

     MR. KAISER:  Is that also your position, Mr. Tunley, with respect to your case, that you're requesting an oral hearing? 

     MR. TUNLEY:  We have made submissions in support of that.  I didn't speak to them though, because I understood that that was to be considered separately from this process, so --

     MR. KAISER:   No, I understand, but -- and you have the same argument, that in order to test the evidence in these kinds of cases, you need an oral hearing. 

     MR. TUNLEY:  We do, yes.  

     MR. KAISER:  Coming back to the two tests, the no-harm and the broader test.  In the broader test, if I’m following your argument, it would allow the Board to look at the range of options and pick the best deal?  Some of your friends might call that second-guessing, or whatever.  

     For us to go to your broader test and look at alternatives, is there, in your view, a requirement that there be some kind of initial showing that the transaction will act to the detriment of the electricity consumers, either in terms of rates or reliability? 

     MR. WARREN:  Sorry, an initial obligation on the parts of those who would challenge the transaction and --  

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Well, you're arguing for the broader test, as opposed to the narrow, no-harm test. 

     MR. WARREN:  I think there is that obligation, sir.  I think -- but I have added the caveat that the Board has to recognize that it’s very difficult sometimes for intervenors to challenge that.  

     Mr. Tunley has a provision in an agreement.
     MR. KAISER:  Right.  

     MR. WARREN:  But leaving that aside, sir, I think there is an initial obligation on intervenors to provide you with a prima facie case, either of the no-harm or the broader test.  

     MR. KAISER:  Because if the applicants in the first instance presented evidence which was uncontradicted that there was no harm, either in terms of rates or reliability, and we accepted what seems to be the general view as our obligations in terms of jurisdiction under Section 85, 86 and Section 1, that would be the end of the matter.  

     MR. WARREN:  Well, I think they’d have to present evidence, sir, in order to do that.  In order to establish the no-harm test, they lead whatever evidence that ratepayers are no worse off with respect to the categories of quality, service and prices, and so on and so forth.  And then you would be satisfied, unless some intervenor comes along and says  either -- we either persuade you that there will be some harm or, as I say, that there is an option that would have placed -- either have kept the ratepayers in a better position, i.e., the status quo, for example, or that there is an option that wasn't considered on the route to this particular option.  But it lies in this Board, now, to articulate what the test is.  

     MR. KAISER:  No, I understand.  So let's suppose there is an oral hearing.  Let's suppose the applicants all come forward and they all address those two central issues.  And let's suppose, for the sake of argument, the intervenors successfully present evidence and argument that suggests there is a concern on one or both of those grounds.


The option open to the Board at that point would be, We're not approving, go back and re-think this thing, Mr. Applicant, or, if I'm following your suggestion, look at other options; isn't that right?


MR. WARREN:  No, sir.  I think your option, your only statutory option, is to say "no".  However, in the course of ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  So now I'm trying to understand why we have to go to your broader test.  Aren't we driven to the no-harm test?  Isn't that what we have to face right up front, given all of the arguments that have been made today with respect to Section 85, 86 and Section 1?


MR. WARREN:  With respect, sir, I don't agree with that, because you can say ‑‑ you can say you don't ‑‑ we're not going to grant leave in the circumstances, because there were other options that would have put the ratepayers in a better position than they're in now.

     MR. KAISER:  All right, but you do agree that we're not going to go to that stage unless there is some doubt or some concern in the Board's mind about the interests of electricity consumers with respect to price and reliability, et cetera?


MR. WARREN:  That's the only reason that you can get to that stage.  That's what your jurisdiction confines you to.


MR. KAISER:  So if we have an oral hearing, it would be -- the initial battle ground, if I can use that term, would be evidence by the applicant on those issues, and evidence and argument by the intervenors against that.  That would be the first matter we'd have to deal with?


MR. WARREN:  The first matter you would have to deal with is there would be, I presume, testing of the evidence by, let's say, written interrogatories.  The intervenors would then file whatever evidence.  It would follow the usual process, and you would either be persuaded at the end of the day or you wouldn't be persuaded at the end of the day.  


As it stands now, we don't know.


MR. KAISER:  Right.  I take it you side with Mr. Tunley that the process may or may not be relevant, depending on the facts of the case?


MR. WARREN:  I agree with that, sir.  It is fact specific, case specific.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Warren, just to follow that up, isn't what we're doing today akin to an issues day, where the Board blesses a list of issues that are relevant for a proceeding?  Isn't that what we're doing today?


MR. WARREN:  I wrestle with that question, Mr. Vlahos, because ‑‑ and I went back to try and to look at the question of what the Board's usual process is; in other words, whether there is evidence filed -- I will use the gas cases, where there is a more -- a lengthier body of jurisprudence.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.


MR. WARREN:  In some of the gas cases, the Board has, for example, had the applicants' evidence which is filed, and then there is an issues day.  There is no challenge to the evidence.  There are no written interrogatories, and the issues day is used to actually provide a framework for the interrogatories to be posited.


MR. VLAHOS:  And other evidence.


MR. WARREN:  And other evidence.  That particular content comes in the context of a quarter of a century of jurisprudence of what issues are relevant in a gas case.  Anybody who has participated in those cases would look at the evidence and say, Look, there was the decision last year and the year before on this issue, and so I know that this is going to be an issue, this is going to be an issue, this is going to be an issue.


MR. VLAHOS:  That hasn't stopped the contested issues regarding jurisdiction of the Board on a number of issues year after year after year.


MR. WARREN:  Tiresomely so, sir, no question.  The point I wanted to make is that the difference in this case is that there isn't a history of contested -- fully contested cases, so that it is difficult for us to say these will be the issues, based on the evidence which has come through up to now.  


I think in this case we can't use this as an issues day until there has been a testing of the evidence and evidence filed, and then the Board, emerging from that, Mr. Tunley has suggested, will be a determination of whether or not there are issues which are relevant to the Board's jurisdiction.  


Sorry, for the long-winded answer, Mr. Vlahos, but I don't think we can use this as an issues day.


MR. VLAHOS:  It's not akin to an issues day in a gas rates case, in your view, okay.


Now, the two tests, no harm versus the wider, broader, you know, best deal test, should this panel take any guidance from what the Board may have found in other situations, in different instruments that have been issued in the last while, as to what would be the appropriate test?


MR. WARREN:  I wouldn't invite the Board ‑‑ I think the Board can take guidance, Mr. Vlahos.  I prefer my test.  The reason that I prefer my test is that the legislature enacted Section 142, it enacted Section 86, but it kept Section 1, albeit in a somewhat truncated form, and in the truncated form it still preserved that obligation to protect the interests of consumers.


I say that in doing that, the legislature wanted to make sure that the -- not just that the consumers weren't harmed, but that they had the best arrangements for the delivery of a monopoly service that everybody relies on.  


So in answer to the question, Mr. Vlahos, you can take guidance obviously from what tests you've used in other contexts.  I say that this is really a sui generis test which arises from this particular concatenation of three sections of the Act.


 MR. VLAHOS:  Lastly, then, this best for ratepayers - that's the term that you used ‑ is that ‑‑ don't you equate ratepayers with taxpayers in this sense, because the ratepayers would no longer be ratepayers of this organization?  They would be ratepayers of another organization.  And if you're looking for a higher price as a seller, then eventually it will come back through higher rates.


So is there a mix-up between ratepayers and taxpayers, and are you aware of what this Board may have said over the years about the two different...

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Vlahos, I'm often confused about many things, but in this case I want to make a distinction between ratepayers and taxpayers.  I would concede that the best deal for ratepayers is not the highest price for the asset.  It's not.  I agree with my friends on that point.  What it is is whether or not the service which you're going to get, the capacity, the quality of the service, the reinvestment in the assets, the long‑term viability of the local service, those are all relevant issues.  


And those are issues for electricity consumers, sir, and not for ratepayers.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And those are pretty standard issues in my recollection of hearing some of those applications, oral or written, as to this goes to the quality of service.  Am I going to be receiving the same service going forward as I have been accustomed to?  Would the same money buying me the same service?


I just get the notion that there is a bunch of money left or taken under the table for ratepayers, and we do confuse these ratepayers with taxpayers and municipal coffers.  I'm a little confused on this.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, sir.  I am sorry to have been the author for confusion for you, but I want to emphasize again that the benefit that goes to the ratepayers, the taxpayers of the municipality, in terms of getting the biggest amount of money for their asset, is not relevant to your jurisdiction.


What is relevant to your jurisdiction is the question of whether or not the municipal utility that is configured after the fact, in my view, is as good as or better than what they had before.


MR. VLAHOS:  From what standpoint?  From a quality of service, reliability?


MR. WARREN:  Quality, reliability, price of service, all of those things which are set out in Section 1, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Warren, I have totally misread your argument, then.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, sir, that is my fault.


MR. VLAHOS:  We just discussed about the no harm versus best deal, best deal from a purchase price point of view -- sorry, I should say sale price point of view for the municipality, or am I wrong on this?


MR. WARREN:  I didn't say that.  I'm sorry, sir.  If I said that, then I misspoke.  The best deal is whether or not, for example, there is going to be ‑‑ to use Mr. Ashforth's argument, is:  In the circumstance, will there be local control over the quality of the service?  Is that a relevant issue?  Is there going to be reinvestment in the quality of the electricity service?  And would they have been better off retaining the status quo, that is, Gravenhurst being owned by the local municipality?  But not the purchase price, sir.  I'm sorry if I have confused you on that point 

     MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.  That helps.  I will read the record again to make sure I understand this. 

     MR. WARREN:  So will I, to see the source of the confusion. 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, I want to clarify that myself.  I understood that you were talking about the effect of the transaction on rates.  Nobody disputes that that is relevant.  

     What you've introduced now is this concept of a different test, though.  The applicants, I think, are arguing under what we now call the no harm test, if we show that rates won't go up, we're done.  We've met our requirements, our burden under this application 

     MR. WARREN:  On the price issue, sir. 

     MR. KAISER:  On the rate issue. 

     MR. WARREN:  Sorry, on the rates. 

     MR. KAISER:  Don't talk about price, he’ll start freaking out again. 

     MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry to be fussy about it, sir, but prices are what is used in the Act. 

     MR. KAISER:  I know, but I'm trying to confuse -- so we don't have two price terms.  Let's call rates, rates and transaction price the price.  

     You say - I'm anticipating this - no, that's not the end of it because if I can show that there was a better deal that would have reduced rates, I'm entitled to bring evidence on that and you, Board, are required to hear that evidence and determine if there is a better deal that would have resulted in a better result for the ratepayer.  

     MR. WARREN:  Qua rates and not taxes. 

     MR. KAISER:  Not taxes.  Is that a fair summary?
     MR. WARREN:  Yes, sir.  That's a fair summary.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I guess just to further clarify some of the -- 

     MR. WARREN:  I clearly have done a bad job, Ms. Nowina, I'm sorry. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Some of the questions my colleagues have asked I think have done that.  To go back to Mr. Tunley's recommended finding that the two questions of, I will say, transaction price and process are relevant only if they touch on the Board's objectives in Section 1.  Would you agree with that?
     MR. WARREN:  I agree with that. 

     MS. NOWINA:  With that position?  Then if you go to your two tests, the no harm tests under that, looking at that first finding, the no harm test, I guess, I would see as an obvious outcome of that.  That we don't need to specifically say there is a test, that when the Board's looking at those two objectives, that that's one of the things they look at, or is an important thing they look at.  

     So the only difference from what we, I would say, normally do would be going to your second test, which is looking at alternatives.  Would you say that?  

     MR. WARREN:  I agree with that, Ms. Nowina, with this caveat; that you have got to look at the evidence and allow the evidence to be tested in the appropriate case.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Thank you.  
     PROCEDURAL MATTERS:
     MR. KAISER:  It's almost five o'clock.  The question is, do you want to do reply now or do you want to do it in the morning?  What's your convenience?  

     MR. WARREN:  For what it's worth, Mr. Kaiser, there clearly would be some advantage in my reading the transcript, because I've --
     MR. KAISER:  Well there may be advantage in all of us reading the transcript, there is no doubt about that, but counsel may have other commitments tomorrow.  The Board is in your hands.  

     MR. WARREN:  I'm free to come back tomorrow morning. 

     MR. KAISER:  Do you want to take five minutes and caucus with your colleagues?  

     MR. TUNLEY:  Mr. Kaiser, it occurs to me that you have arranged for two-day period for reply for those intervenors who have left.  Maybe if you're going to hear reply from everyone, could it be in writing and could we agree that the deadline for delivery, if anyone has anything more to say to you by way of reply, be two days from now and we would be finished right now?  

     MR. KAISER:  The Board's agreeable to that.  Any comments from other parties?  

     MR. WARREN:  That's fine with me, sir.  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, in that event we will expect reply from all parties two days from now.  Thank you very much for your assistance.  
     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, just before you shut down, I wonder if I could just mention one thing.  You had left with counsel, basically counsel for the applicant, with a question about Section 75 of the Ontario Municipal Board 

Act and Section 148 of the Municipal Act as it then was.  I'm not sure if you want a bit of an answer now that might help my friends in not having to deal with that on reply.  
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Why don't we deal with that, if that is agreeable.  I thank you for reminding me of that.  That is an outstanding issue.  

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I didn't really want it to get left off, and I'm not sure it needs a full reply from all of counsel to the applicants.  
     The Cornwall decision involved, as you know, the sale of Cornwall Hydro to Consumers, and that pre-dated the Energy Competition Act.  In that decision, the board, the municipal board, set out a number of the submissions that were made by various parties.  In fact, one of the submissions that was made, but the board didn't exactly deal with this in its findings, was that had this matter not involved what the board referred to as an energy contract between the City and Consumers, and had it not involved the issuance of municipal debt, this matter would not have been before the municipal board at all.  

     But just to make it clear why Section 148 of the former Municipal Act and Section 65 of the Ontario Municipal Board Act were relevant, the municipality was, as you mentioned, sir, subject to certain debenture requirements that would have outlasted the term of its counsel.  That's where Section 65 of the Ontario Municipal Board Act came up.  

     Section 148 of the former Municipal Act was relevant because the municipality still needed some entity to supply it with electricity.  Previously it had been Cornwall Light and Power.  Once that utility was sold to Consumers, the City of Cornwall needed to enter into an agreement with Consumers in order to provide electricity to the municipality.  

     Section 148 hasn't been carried through to the new 

Municipal Act, the Municipal Act, 2001.  And as the Board 

will be aware, and as I mentioned earlier, electricity has been taken in under the Electricity Act, the Ontario Energy Board Act, essentially the Energy Competition Act and its schedules.  So electricity is no longer -- doesn't fall within the definition of a public utility any longer under the Municipal Act.  

     So the short answer, I think is, first of all, as for Section 148, it's not there any more in the new Municipal Act.  And as for Section 65 of the Ontario Municipal Board Act, I will read that section for the benefit of those back here actually.  

“Despite any general or special act, a municipality or board to which this subsection applies shall not exercise any of its powers to proceed with or provide money for any work or class of work if the cost or any portion of the cost of the work is to be or may be raised after the term for which the council or board was elected.”  

     Now, I am not aware that in any of these three cases, and as I said I'm not speaking to those, I'm not here for counsel for any of those applicants, but I'm not aware in any of these cases, these applications or these transactions involve the issuance of municipal debt.  

     To my understanding, these are all situations in which one utility is buying the shares of another utility.  So accordingly, I don't believe that Section 65 would continue to apply in these circumstances either.  

     MR. KAISER:  But is Section 65 just limited to debt?  I thought in Cornwall one of the things that triggered it was certain undertakings that took place after the term of the council; namely, commitment by Cornwall to buy the utility back in the event that its franchise rights were terminated.  

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, I'm -- as I said I am not aware that there is any, that there is any municipal provision in any of these transactions to address that.  

     MR. KAISER:  We'll ask the parties to address whether they considered Section 65 to be relevant.  

     My only interest in it was this:  A lot of these parties have come forward, and whether we have jurisdiction or not is another matter, complaining that there was no public consultation in at least two of these cases, and I was just interested to know what remedy they had under the, with the OMB.  And if Section 65 really spoke to that and said the only time where the OMB would intervene in such a decision is where the council made commitments that went beyond its term, and whether we could take some guidance that the legislature had spoken at least in some general terms to the protection that might be afforded to these citizens in these types of transactions and it ought not to concern us.  

     So I was looking at it as some assistance in, sort of, legislative intent, if you will, in the regulatory scheme confronting these two regulatory agencies as to who was responsible for what on the one hand, and on the other hand, just a matter of knowing whether there would be other applications by these applicants pursuant to that section, or frankly even whether that section was still in place, because I hadn't read this case until I saw it this morning.  So that was my interest.  

     But we will ask the applicants to address that in their reply, I guess.  

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  Sorry to interrupt.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  
     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:05 p.m.
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